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          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: This is a very

          3  exciting hearing because it's a joint hearing with

          4  my esteemed colleague Council Member Helen Foster of

          5  the Parks Committee and Council Member Mike Nelson

          6  of the Waterfront Committee.  Obviously, we are

          7  having a little bit of a weather delay and Council

          8  Member, Chair Nelson, along with other Committee

          9  members will be joining us shortly but, presumably,

         10  hopefully, but in the meantime, we're going to begin

         11  and our first witness will be Leslie Koch, the

         12  President of the Governors Island Preservation and

         13  Education Corporation, affectionately known as

         14  GIPAC.

         15                 And just if you'll bear with us just

         16  one more moment I will dispense with my normal

         17  30-minute oratory to commence hearings.  I figured

         18  that'd catch applause, but other than to point out

         19  that this hearing where Governors Island is a

         20  special place at the entranceway to this City and

         21  this Country in the middle of the Harbor, under the

         22  gaze of the Statue of Liberty, it's virtually a

         23  blank slate and offers us a wonderful opportunity to

         24  do wonderful things for New Yorkers, including

         25  creating a wonderful, magnificent Harbor Park.  This
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          2  hearing focuses on the park use of Governors Island,

          3  recognizing that there will be other exciting,

          4  forward looking uses on the island serving New

          5  Yorkers and our region and we will be having, as we

          6  have, we've had hearings on those uses in the past

          7  and we will be having additional hearings on the

          8  overall uses in the future.

          9                 But there has been some progress,

         10  about which we're about to hear, on the park use

         11  planning process and that is the purpose of this

         12  hearing and that's why its especially significant

         13  and important that we are joined by Council Member

         14  Foster, who is the Parks leader in our City as Chair

         15  of the Parks Committee and I also serve under her as

         16  a member of her Committee and its just been

         17  wonderful serving with you, Council Member Foster

         18  and your leadership has made our City a better Parks

         19  City.  So, with that, I'll turn the mike over to you

         20  and then we'll begin.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning.

         22  Just very much looking forward to what's going to

         23  happen today.  As he said, we spoke to Chair Nelson

         24  this morning, he's actually on the BQE trying to get

         25  in, so, we can get started.  A very Happy Valentines
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          2  Day to everyone, an icy Valentine's Day, I guess.

          3  Thank you.  You can get started.

          4                 MS. KOCH: When it says, "mike off" I

          5  should follow instructions?  And I apologize in

          6  advance but I have a pre- existing commitment very

          7  shortly after this that was scheduled before this

          8  hearing so I will try to speak quickly.  I thought

          9  on this icy day it would be appropriate to start

         10  with some Summer pictures so we can all live

         11  vicariously.

         12                 As we all know, Governors Island is

         13  at the heart of the Harbor, and its a place of

         14  extraordinary beauty and history.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me just stop

         16  you for a minute, I'm sorry.  Can you state and

         17  title for the record, please.

         18                 MS. KOCH: Yes.  I'm Leslie Koch and

         19  I'm the President of the Governors Island

         20  Preservation and Education Corporation.  So, we

         21  should have had this hearing in the Springtime when

         22  we could have enjoyed the Cherry Trees but, and we

         23  have a unique connection to the water and Harbor.

         24                 I wanted to update since the last

         25  time we appeared before the City Council, as Council
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          2  Member Gerson mentioned, we're going to talk largely

          3  about the park, but we also wanted to just bring you

          4  up to speed on where we are with Governors Island

          5  overall.  So I'm going to talk briefly about the

          6  result of the request for proposals that was issued

          7  almost exactly a year ago, in fact it I think it

          8  was, on February 14, 2006, the Harbor School, what

          9  we've been doing with tax dollars in terms of

         10  preservation and infrastructure, in terms of early

         11  uses for the park and then some early planning for

         12  our park and open space.

         13                 Very quickly, there was an RFP issued

         14  in February 2006, prior to my arrival.  I arrived

         15  around the same time as the responses and there were

         16  some interviews of several teams that submitted.

         17  There was unprecedented outreach to generate

         18  interest but only about 25 responses were received.

         19  We had very robust criteria to look at those

         20  proposals and as a result of that criteria the inner

         21  agency evaluation committee recommended no developer

         22  designation to the GIPEC Board.

         23                 The conclusions from that as we

         24  discussed at the GIPEC Board meeting in November

         25  that public infrastructure and open space investment
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          2  are needed to make the Island appealing both to

          3  commercial and to non- profit tenants and that's why

          4  we have spent a good deal of time, as Council Member

          5  Gerson mentioned, thinking about the park and the

          6  quality of the park.

          7                 Transportation and access do remain

          8  formidable challenges as my colleagues who were

          9  waiting for the vote this morning.  There will be a

         10  multi- faze mixed use development feature and there

         11  are possibilities for a variety of tenants but this

         12  will be a long period of development.  The New York

         13  Harbor School was recommended by the selection

         14  committee.  It's an ideal blend of the maritime and

         15  educational mission that we share on Governors

         16  Island.  It will have a home in a historic building.

         17    It's scheduled to open in September 2009 and we,

         18  at GIPEC, are working closely with the SCA and DOE

         19  to plan its renovation and operations.

         20                 Very quickly, for those of you who

         21  are not familiar with the Harbor School, it's a New

         22  York Public High School, it serves approximately 400

         23  students with an academic focus on maritime science

         24  and technology and, obviously, a goal of 100%

         25  graduation rates for its children.  Its first class
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          2  will be graduating this coming June.

          3                 We're also working on the Island,

          4  probably not today, but have been working very hard

          5  on preservation.  We are doing roofs, gutters,

          6  boilers, basically stabilizing the vast number of

          7  structures, 52 buildings that total about 1.4

          8  million square feet.  Stabilizing those buildings

          9  because obviously they have not had tenants for

         10  almost a decade.

         11                 Also working on transportation and

         12  infrastructure planning.  With the $75 million in

         13  City and State funds that were appropriated to the

         14  Corporation.

         15                 Last Summer we had, I was here at the

         16  beginning of the Summer season, so we were

         17  optimistic about the Summer and I'm pleased to

         18  report to the Council that we had a 300% increase in

         19  visitors last Summer compared to the Summer before

         20  so that's 26,000 people.  They actually came from

         21  all over the City, plus regional, international

         22  visitors.  We had days camps from the Bronx, elderly

         23  visitors from Chinatown and a number of ex-

         24  Brooklynites looking for a view of the Brooklyn

         25  waterfront, as I like to remind Borough President
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          2  Markowitz.  We had some wonderful programming and

          3  recreation.  Downtown Little League was out, the

          4  National Park Service, our partners on the Island,

          5  led tours and a number of cultural programs.

          6                 Planning for the Summer, if we can

          7  all imagine Summer again on a day like today, we

          8  will have expanded access to the entire historic

          9  district, a new floating dock that enables

         10  commercial water taxi boats to land on the island

         11  for the first time, new passenger trolley tours of

         12  the South Island and a new concert series,

         13  partnering with  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sorry, can I

         15  interrupt?

         16                 MS. KOCH: Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Where does the

         18  water taxi start?

         19                 MS. KOCH: That's going to be up to

         20  the water taxi companies.  We have provided a dock

         21  so that they can land and we are hopeful, and call

         22  them every week to invite them to come.  We will

         23  have two family friendly concert series, one on

         24  Saturdays in July and one on Saturdays in August,

         25  working with our partners at Trinity Church and the

                                                            12

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2  Lower Manhattan Cultural Council, and we're working

          3  with the Department of Education to provide access

          4  to public schools for field days in May and June.

          5                 There will be more news in the

          6  Summer.  We want to take a moment to thank Council

          7  Member Gerson and the Governors Island Alliance and

          8  we will have our Family Festival Opening Day on June

          9  second, and we will also have a new Visitor's Center

         10  and Battery Maritime Building thanks to Borough

         11  President Scott Stringer.  We may have a couple more

         12  news between now and the Summer.

         13                 We've also been working hard on

         14  public input, meetings with community boards, two

         15  and six in Brooklyn and one in Manhattan in the last

         16  couple of months and held our first Governors Island

         17  Advisory Council Meeting, who will have a formal

         18  role in our park design.

         19                 So now, as Council Member Gerson

         20  mentioned, I wanted to talk just briefly about the

         21  park planning process.  The deed transfer from the

         22  Federal Government requires a considerable amount of

         23  open space on Governors Island.  That open space

         24  includes the historic district open space in the

         25  Northern Island, which is approximately 33 acres.
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          2  What you see on the right, that existing green

          3  space, which already looks quite beautiful.  A new

          4  park on the Southern half of the Island, and

          5  restoration of the walkway or the roadway that goes

          6  around the Island.

          7                 One of the results of the RFP process

          8  that was very helpful was we made a decision about

          9  the location of the park, in the Southwestern corner

         10  and for those of you who have been to the Island,

         11  that's not a particularly difficult choice because

         12  that is the corner of the Island that has the most

         13  extraordinary views of the Statue of Liberty.  That

         14  gives you a sense of the range of open space that

         15  will be available on Governors Island.

         16                 We talk about that open space as

         17  really three distinct spaces.  We use the term The

         18  Great Promenade, which I'll talk about in a second,

         19  obviously the Historic Landscapes, and what we call

         20  the Summer Park.  We don't call it the Summer Park

         21  because it will be closed in the Winter, but in part

         22  because it's our state of mind, sort of coming to

         23  Governors Island and also because, quite frankly, we

         24  expect quite a few more visitors in August than we

         25  do on a day like today.
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          2                 The Great Promenade, this is what it

          3  looks like today, so it's a leap of faith.  We are

          4  very confident.  This is the roadway on the Western

          5  Shore of the Island and, again, it's just the

          6  existing roadway that the Coast Guard used.  We

          7  believe that this will become the great walk of New

          8  York City, and I actually believe one of the most

          9  memorable walks in North America, if not the World.

         10  What I'll do in a couple of minutes is show you some

         11  renderings, we worked with some architects just to

         12  get some ideas, because it's always hard to imagine

         13  what the future can look like unless you see some

         14  pictures.  The challenge with pictures, of course,

         15  is that they're just ideas and they tend to look a

         16  little more real than the reality today.

         17                 In terms of today's reality, the

         18  Summer Park as we term it.  This is what it looks

         19  like today.  This is actually one of the more

         20  appealing sections of the South Island.  The South

         21  Island is filled with old apartment buildings and

         22  old service buildings that have not been maintained

         23  and old asphalt for many parking spaces that will

         24  not be used in the future.

         25                 How do we bring the Island back to
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          2  life?  What I'm going to do for the next few minutes

          3  is just walk you through, again, some ideas.  These

          4  ideas illustrate some of the early visions for the

          5  park that we released to the public in October with

          6  our RFQ, which I'll talk about in a second, so again

          7  it's really just a sort of visual representation of

          8  ideas that we have on paper.  Today, or any day this

          9  Summer, you can arrive by ferry, so that's not going

         10  to change, we expect to have a public ferry from

         11  Lower Manhattan and we hope boat access from other

         12  locations in the foreseeable future.  And you see it

         13  looks pretty much like it does today, there's a new

         14  structure over on the right, food which we will be

         15  very thrilled to have.  If you don't know, we don't

         16  have that currently.  And then we imagine that

         17  visitors can also potentially take a gondola.  As we

         18  announced in November, we're in the early stages of

         19  a feasibility study for this gondola, which was sort

         20  of introduced to the public about a year ago.  It's

         21  too early to say if that's feasible from a technical

         22  and financial standpoint but we are working to just

         23  answer those questions.

         24                 So, however you arrive on Governors

         25  Island, you can begin your walk around the Island,
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          2  this Great Promenade and the Great Promenade, you

          3  first start with these amazing views of Lower

          4  Manhattan, which people haven't had because very few

          5  New Yorkers take boats today, with the exception of

          6  our colleagues who live on Staten Island.  As you

          7  round the corner, you see a water taxi coming, we

          8  hope from Brooklyn, that's the water taxi company

          9  and you can imagine at the water's edge along the

         10  Buttermilk Channel, some new structures, including

         11  potentially a hotel, but this roadway, or walkway,

         12  will be accessible to pedestrians and bicycles, it

         13  will remain a public access walkway, even with

         14  development.

         15                 As you round the corner and you're

         16  out in the Harbor, you have this amazing view of the

         17  Statue of Liberty and one of the things you realize

         18  when you have that view is that, with the exception

         19  of Red Hook, there is no other place in the World to

         20  see the Statue of Liberty's face from land.  So, New

         21  Yorkers, who sometimes like to pride themselves that

         22  they don't go visit the Statue of Liberty, here's

         23  this great symbol of our City and it's not something

         24  that we have really embraced, so we think as you

         25  round the corner, again this is just an
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          2  illustration, but there could be some special way to

          3  view the Statue of Liberty.

          4                 As visitors come along, this is

          5  actually a pretty close view to that present view I

          6  showed you a minute ago, this is what this could

          7  look like.  One of things we're looking at is not

          8  just how we construct this Great Promenade but how

          9  does it connect to the water.  In New York City,

         10  with the exception of Council Member Nelson and his

         11  district, there are very few places where New

         12  Yorkers can touch the water, I mean literally touch

         13  the water.  So, this illustrates an idea where we

         14  would enable our visitors to kind of get a little

         15  bit closer to the water's edge and then have that

         16  great view of Lower Manhattan and then you see the

         17  extraordinary building on the Park Service property

         18  in the foreground.  And again, we imagine people

         19  will come to run and walk, you see, experience the

         20  boat traffic.

         21                 And then, in that Southwestern corner

         22  there'll be this great park and one of the

         23  opportunities is creating a park that complements

         24  probably two of the most famous parks in the world:

         25  Central Park and Prospect Park.  So what are the
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          2  kinds of things you might do in a park that you

          3  can't do elsewhere in New York?  One of the things

          4  we used, again these are just early illustrations of

          5  ideas, is the idea of grilling.  For families who

          6  want to gather on Sundays there are very few places

          7  in New York where it's actually legal to have a

          8  family picnic where you can grill.  One of the great

          9  virtues of an island is that we're out in the middle

         10  of the harbor so we don't have some of the same

         11  community considerations, so that's an idea of

         12  something that we think will attract people from

         13  around the City.  In creating this great park and

         14  promenade, we believe this will be a park for our

         15  neighbors in Brooklyn, our neighbors in Lower

         16  Manhattan but actually the entire City.  A

         17  destination, a place for people to come for a few

         18  hours vacation with just the cost of getting there

         19  by subway and the free ferry as well as a great

         20  attraction for the millions of tourists who pass by

         21  the Island every day now on the way to Liberty and

         22  Ellis Island.

         23                 Also in this park, again these are

         24  just some early ideas, this is like one of those

         25   "Where's Waldo" exercises, what are the things that
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          2  people are doing in this park that you can't really

          3  do in other places?  One of them is the idea of

          4  festivals. Being a place where people can gather for

          5  multi- day festivals, our colleagues in Queens can

          6  do that, but there isn't really a place in Manhattan

          7  to do that.  Or something as simple as kite flying.

          8  There are very few places in New York where you can

          9  fly a kite. And that's something we're working with

         10  the Parks Commissioner as we've talked to him about

         11  the kinds of activities that people want to do that

         12  are hard to do in City parks today.  That's just a

         13  small example, but one that would be just

         14  delightful.

         15                 And then, obviously, children playing

         16  sports.  There will be a mix, a variety of active

         17  and passive recreational activities.  We know about

         18  the challenges in finding the right places to do

         19  sports, both in Lower Manhattan and in Brooklyn,

         20  which is a mere 400 yards away, so we hope that

         21  children and adults will come out to enjoy the park

         22  and enjoy sports.  And then here, another, just,

         23  again an early idea of how can this be a great place

         24  for children and families?  So you can imagine

         25  people coming from all over with their kids to enjoy
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          2  activities really designed for children and

          3  families.

          4                 And then, we like to say that we will

          5  have success if we're having a discussion with the

          6  Coast Guard about letting New Yorkers enjoy the

          7  Statue of Liberty and the view of the fireworks from

          8  Governors Island on the Fourth of July, so one of

          9  the other ideas we're exploring is the idea of an

         10  open air amphitheater, something that New York City

         11  currently doesn't have and it is just too

         12  spectacular to imagine being able to hear The Stars

         13  and Stripes and America the Beautiful while watching

         14  the fireworks over the Statue of Liberty.

         15                 So, those are all sort of early ideas

         16  of what we're doing.  These ideas were articulated

         17  in the RFQ.  As I mentioned, we issued an RFQ, a

         18  Request for Qualifications for landscape services,

         19  that's our official government language in October

         20  of 2006.  We tried to publicize it as widely as

         21  possible.  29 teams of landscape and architecture

         22  firms responded, representing 65 firms, literally

         23  from around the world.  Ten countries as well as

         24  many well known firms in New York.  These were all

         25  firms who have won awards and recognition for
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          2  building parks, buildings, master plans, really

          3  throughout the world: Europe, Asia and the United

          4  States.

          5                 We announced a few weeks ago at the

          6  AIA at a public forum the five finalist teams and

          7  what I thought what I would do is just very briefly

          8  go through their work.  Several of these teams are

          9  based in New York and are working on fabulous

         10  projects in New York now but others are, have built

         11  extraordinary parks and buildings around the world.

         12                 The first firm is Field Operations,

         13  working in partnership with a number of firms.

         14  Field Operations is famous for the Highline, also

         15  for Fresh Kills here in New York City.  They are

         16  based in New York City.  They are partnered with a

         17  British architecture firm who did this beautiful

         18  building in Kew Gardens that's won a number of

         19  awards.

         20                 The second firm, also based in New

         21  York, George Hargraves working with Michael Maltson

         22  Architecture.  Michael's firm is based in Los

         23  Angeles but he's well known in New York for having

         24  done the Queens MOMA building.  This is one of the

         25  extraordinary public parks of the country.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Koch, can I

          3  interrupt you, because I know your time is limited.

          4  Instead of going through this, do you mind if we

          5  jump into questions?

          6                 MS. KOCH: Sure.  That's fine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know that,

          8  we've been joined by Council Member Melissa Mark-

          9  Viverito from Manhattan.  I know she has questions.

         10  Why don't you start, then you can go, Alan and then

         11  I'll wrap it up.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Sounds like a

         13  good plan.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         15  you, Chairs.  I apologize for coming in late.  I'm

         16  sitting here, and I'm getting nervous, because I'm

         17  kind of flashing back to Randall's Island and the

         18  troubles that we're having there.  I hear master

         19  plan, I hear RFQs, I hear everything that you're

         20  mentioning and this is a beautiful concept, the

         21  vision that's there for Governors Island. The issue

         22  to me always becomes about access.  Now, literally,

         23  physically access but also with regards to

         24  eventually the population and the people that are

         25  served.  If people are following the news with
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          2  regards to Randall's Island, now we're getting into

          3  the specific concessions that become very exclusive

          4  and seem to be very much targeted to select few and

          5  that becomes an issue.  So I have a couple of

          6  questions with regards to how your set up and I know

          7  that there's a State role here that really doesn't

          8  play a role in the Randall's Island but it seems

          9  like you might have a similar structure.  On your

         10  Board  --

         11                 MS. KOCH: We're actually quite

         12  different from Randall's Island, but  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: It's

         14  really very familiar territory, in terms of what

         15  you're doing.  RFQs were issued, a master plan was

         16  issued for Randall's Island, which lays out a lot of

         17  what you've laid out, what I see here, in terms of

         18  historically where we're going and kind of the

         19  vision that's been laid out so, it sounds very

         20  familiar, but, just questions about the decisions

         21  that are ultimately are made with regards to

         22  Governors Island and I'm new to this, so, bear with

         23  me, but ultimately, who has the ultimate authority

         24  here to decide we're going to go with this, we're

         25  going to go with that, once it's decided?
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          2                 MS. KOCH: The Governors Island

          3  Corporation is a subsidiary of the Empire State

          4  Development Corporation and our Board is appointed

          5  half by the Mayor and half by the Governor.  The

          6  Chairmanship of that Board rotates between the City

          7  and the State. The current chair of the Board is the

          8  Deputy Mayor Dan Doctoroff.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Right.

         10  So, then that Board makes decisions, there's no

         11  public review in terms of the City?

         12                 MS. KOCH: The Board makes the

         13  decisions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: City

         15  Council, City Council.

         16                 MS. KOCH: There is not a formal

         17  oversight because we are a subsidiary of the Empire

         18  State Development Corporation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         20  Now, in terms of the members of the Board, who do

         21  they reflect in terms of background?  Is it all

         22  private sector, cultural organizations, even I would

         23  say demographic composition, I'd be interested in

         24  that.

         25                 MS. KOCH: I can list for you the
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          2  current members of the Board, obviously with the new

          3  Governor I would imagine on the State side there

          4  will be some change, although I can't speak for the

          5  Governor or for the Chairman of the Empire State

          6  Development Corporation on the status of the State

          7  appointees  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Who are

          9  the current City appointees?

         10                 MS. KOCH: The current City appointees

         11  are Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, Deputy Mayor Wolcott,

         12  Elizabeth Berger, Ronee Mential, Jay Cross and

         13  Sherida Paulson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Now

         15  obviously, I know Deputy Mayors Doctoroff and

         16  Wolcott, the others you mentioned, what are their

         17  affiliations?  How do they come into this, what is

         18  their expertise?  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Excuse me one

         20  second, we have been joined now by the third member

         21  of the triumvirate, Co- chair Council Member Mike

         22  Nelson, who, we introduced you in advance, who had

         23  the most perilous journey to arrive here.  The BQE

         24  is definitely the most perilous, so welcome Chair

         25  Nelson.  Before we had announced the severe time
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          2  constraint we were under so, we're going, after this

          3  we have one follow up question and then President

          4  Koch, obviously, will need to continue the

          5  discussion and the dialogue as we go forward.  If

          6  you would return to the previous question and then

          7  one more.

          8                 MS. KOCH: Would you like me to share

          9  what I know of the, I mean I don't have the

         10  biographies of those individuals in front of me  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: No, I

         12  mean I just want to know, like, if they're tied to a

         13  specific organization or corporation  --

         14                 MS. KOCH: I know a number of them

         15  serve on a number of boards and  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Maybe

         17  you could provide that, it would be great  --

         18                 MS. KOCH: I'd be happy to.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: If we

         20  could get it from every one, even the State people

         21  for right now, I know that might be a change but I

         22  think it would be good.

         23                 MS. KOCH: I would be happy to, I just

         24  would like to consult with them and sort of what

         25  their bio is.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I

          3  appreciate that, thank you.  And then just the last

          4  thing, and then I will stop, because I'm looking

          5  here at prohibited uses, educational uses, and on

          6  prohibited uses it says, "prohibited uses include

          7  residential uses except as otherwise expressly

          8  permitted" see these little caveats kind of get to

          9  me because this is where you start getting into the

         10  nuances and into what potentially could happen.  And

         11  so, there are opportunities to have some sort of

         12  residential component?

         13                 MS. KOCH: Yes, yes there are.  The

         14  way that the ban and what the Council Members of

         15  course referring to is the deed restrictions put in

         16  by the Federal Government, that bans residential

         17  housing but it is a usage ban, rather than an

         18  ownership ban and so, residential housing is

         19  permitted if it is in accordance with the permitted

         20  uses.  I not an attorney but I'm trying to quote it

         21  as best as I can, which includes education,

         22  hospitality and health.  So there could be future

         23  opportunities for residents of the Island, but not

         24  for conventional residential leases or ownership if

         25  they are not connected to those permitted uses.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay,

          3  well, I thank you for your time, but I just want to

          4  say that I think that it is imperative that the

          5  community voices be heard in this process.  I,

          6  similar with the complaints I have with the

          7  Randall's Island Sports Foundation, there are

          8  absolutely no community representatives on these

          9  boards and I think that that's a real serious issue

         10  because that that voice needs to be a critical part

         11  of any decision making process and the communities

         12  that I represent, you know, East Harlem, South

         13  Bronx, are very much communities that always get

         14  left out of these process and I think that that's

         15  important.  I thank you for sharing, it's a great

         16  vision.  I'm just really interested in ensuring that

         17  everyone's voice is heard and that this is

         18  accessible to everyone in the City of New York.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 MS. KOCH: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Just a brief

         22  follow up to the very, very appropriate and

         23  important concern raised by my colleague, in terms

         24  of accountability and maintaining the public's role

         25  in the public's land.  I should make it clear first
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          2  that President Koch, of course, has inherited the

          3  governed structure set up for the Island and given

          4  to her, and I do want to compliment you and

          5  acknowledge your responsiveness to the Council and

          6  to the community, as reflected by your being here as

          7  you've been many times and we expect you'll be back

          8  many times.  That doesn't change the fact that we

          9  have a structural issue to deal with in terms of

         10  government and related to this Island and related to

         11  a lot of other developments on public land across

         12  the City and I would just raise one possibility of

         13  dealing with it and that is we do have a request by

         14  GIPEC for a significant allocation of funds from the

         15  upcoming City budget which this Council will have to

         16  act on and certainly it remains within our

         17  prerogative to attach conditions to that allocation

         18  of the budget and I think that's certainly something

         19  that we, as committees, and as a Council need to

         20  explore between now and the budget adoption.

         21                 In the interest of time, I'm going to

         22  confine my questions to two, one short term and one

         23  long term.  In the short term, looking forward to

         24  the Summer and the Fall beyond, as I understand it,

         25  your current plan calls for the Island to be open
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          2  for visitation and public use on Friday and

          3  Saturday, is that?

          4                 MS. KOCH: Our current plan is the

          5  same schedule that we had last summer, which is,

          6  there are guided tours on Tuesdays, Wednesdays and

          7  Thursdays, and then free access on Fridays and

          8  Saturdays.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I would just urge

         10  that we try and stretch things and see if there's a

         11  way to expand that or maybe trade some hours so that

         12  the Island is open to the public on Sunday.  There

         13  are many New Yorkers who are disenfranchised by only

         14  having Saturday and not Sunday open either because

         15  there are New Yorkers who work on Saturday and have

         16  Sunday as their only weekend day off and there are

         17  other New Yorkers who, for reasons of religious

         18  observance, are unable to enjoy the park on

         19  Saturday, or travel to the park I should say, so, I

         20  would urge us to try and see and Sunday is a normal

         21  park use day in the City and throughout, so I don't

         22  want to cut back, but we should really try and find

         23  a way to open for at least half of the day on

         24  Sunday.

         25                 MS. KOCH: We absolutely share the
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          2  goal of being open on Sunday and I, without spending

          3  a huge amount of time on the operational challenges

          4  of operating an Island that only has one boat, and

          5  the boat needs a day of rest, and I'll spare you all

          6  the details, but it absolutely is our goal to be

          7  open on Sundays.  I don't think it's going to be

          8  possible in the Summer of 2007 but I am very, very

          9  confident that that will be possible in the Summer

         10  of 2008.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well, you know

         12  what, let me just leave, I don't want to, I believe

         13  in doing what doesn't seem possible, so I want to

         14  leave you with the challenge of figuring out a way

         15  for at least a significant part of the Summer to

         16  open on Sunday of this year.  You know, part of what

         17  we want to do is raise consciousness and

         18  attentiveness so, its also a question of being

         19  pennywise, pound foolish, if we lose this important

         20  day.  My longer term question, the park uses that

         21  you have focused on in the presentation have been

         22  primarily the passive uses, which I support and I

         23  think the concept of looking to what is not

         24  happening elsewhere, like grilling, like kite

         25  flying, is great but there's a great need for active
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          2  uses, for active sports and especially if we are

          3  going to develop greater educational uses, the

          4  Harbor School is one but presumably not the last,

          5  probably there's a cost- effective way to develop,

          6  to take advantage of the space here, to develop

          7  active use, athletic fields and a range of sports,

          8  typical and atypical in terms of what's offered

          9  elsewhere with costs being shared as time is shared

         10  by public schools and during after school hours by

         11  the community.  So, do you have any plans and will

         12  the process going forward take account of the need

         13  for active athletic and non- athletic active uses?

         14  Recreational?

         15                 MS. KOCH: Yes.  And I think, not to

         16  go back to the slides, but  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You had one

         18  slide.

         19                 MS. KOCH: Again, I think, as I

         20  mentioned, these are illustrations of possible uses.

         21    One of the reasons that we have an illustration of

         22  kids playing sports is because we expect to have

         23  kids, and, we hope, adults, too, playing sports on

         24  Governors Island.  We will be working, once the

         25  competition, which will take place this Spring and
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          2  Summer, and then with the design team to obviously

          3  to design a multi- faceted park, taking advantage of

          4  the 25- 40 acres that are available for the new park

          5  and that will be a mix of active and passive uses.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And so the RFP

          7  for the design, when will that be issued?

          8                 MS. KOCH: That will be issued

          9  probably in early March or February and what that

         10  means is that the five teams that we just mentioned

         11  will then work off that RFP in a competition that

         12  will be a public forum and there will be a public

         13  exhibition of those designs and we'll be looking for

         14  a variety of ways for public comment and then there

         15  will be a selection, not of a design but of a team.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: If these

         17  Committees wanted to suggest a criteria or input to

         18  be included in the RFPs, would we, could we do so in

         19  the next few days for your consideration before you

         20  finalize that?

         21                 MS. KOCH: Absolutely.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Madam Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Just

         24  a couple of quick things.  I think that Council

         25  Member Viverito hit it on the head with what our
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          2  concerns are, for there's been a thrust in terms of

          3  parks that, there really is becoming two tiers of

          4  parks and so while Randall's Island started before

          5  most of us got here and slipped out of our hands,

          6  this is one thing that we can make sure we don't see

          7  those same effects.  So, the concern in terms of

          8  transportation and access is a big deal and I think

          9  it, the difference with this is it's access for

         10  everyone.  It's not, you know, we're all going to

         11  need to get there type of thing.  --

         12                 MS. KOCH: Exactly.  We have everybody

         13  has the same problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Exactly.  And we

         15  have to, when we have these conversations, and I'm

         16  sure as you go down the line, the need for

         17  transportation, as you said, the water taxi and so

         18  on, is going to have to be there but it's going to

         19  have to be such that all New Yorkers can get to it

         20  and can afford it and not a select few.  But just

         21  two, three quick things.  The Sunday that Alan was

         22  talking about.  Why can't we alternate Saturdays and

         23  Sundays?  So that way, you're accommodating all

         24  religions and you also get the boat to rest a day.

         25                 MS. KOCH: I think, we will sort of
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          2  take the Council's feedback back and, again, we are

          3  completely committed to trying to be open on

          4  Sundays.  One of the things you balance is just how

          5  you get a message out to the public that this week

          6  is Saturday, next week it's Sunday and not have

          7  crowds of people that are disappointed, so, we can

          8  obviously share with you in more detail some of the

          9  challenges, again, given the unique situation of

         10  Governors Island at this moment, but, we completely

         11  share  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That just came to

         13  me so feel free to take it and make it your own!

         14                 MS. KOCH: That's a creative idea I

         15  hadn't thought of, so, I thought of many creative

         16  ideas to open on Sundays but you're one step ahead

         17  of me.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Maybe if we

         19  alternate.  Two quick things.  For the parkland part

         20  of Governors Island, who would be responsible once

         21  we get to that point with the maintenance and

         22  upkeep, would it be Parks or would it be  --

         23                 MS. KOCH:  That's a very good

         24  question and we have not yet reached that

         25  determination.  We have in terms of the budgetary
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          2  needs of those parks, we have presented to both the

          3  City and State requests and we have funding for the

          4  design stage of the park, but this is the beginning

          5  of that journey.  We have not yet addressed the sort

          6  of operations of the park and both what entity would

          7  operate the park and as well as how that would be

          8  funded.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think that it's

         10  important as you go down the line that we remember

         11  to build in maintenance for it.  Because we have a

         12  tendency as a City to renovate or build parks and

         13  never put money in for maintenance so we end up just

         14  doing it all over again.  And my last question is

         15  are we looking to develop this public open space

         16  without the need to secure private, total private

         17  funding so we don't run into the Randall's Island

         18   "pay to play" type of thing where, I happen to

         19  think maintaining and providing open space, public

         20  open space, is in fact the City or the State but

         21  definitely the government's job and not looking for

         22  private donors to come in and then somehow create an

         23  ownership over it so, is there a thrust to look and

         24  make sure both the City and the State, since this is

         25  a joint venture, kind of hold their own, so that we
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          2  are not selling off portions of Governors Island to

          3  the highest bidder?

          4                 MS. KOCH: We have, one of the things

          5  I mentioned early in my presentation was, I think,

          6  the results of the RFP showed us exactly the point

          7  that you have made, which is that for this Island to

          8  come back to life, it requires considerable public

          9  investment by both the City and the State.  We,

         10  obviously, are in budget season and we have

         11  presented our request to the City and State and

         12  there are current public numbers available about

         13  what the commitments are from the City and State and

         14  we view it as our job at GIPEC to make the case for

         15  how important this Island can be, how beautiful it

         16  can be and what an asset it can be for New York and

         17  then we hope that the Mayor and the Governor will

         18  see the wisdom with working in conjunction with you

         19  and with others to invest in the Island.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  We've

         21  been joined by Council Member James, from Queens,

         22  I'm sorry, Brooklyn, Council Member James from

         23  Brooklyn, Council Member Gallagher from Queens and

         24  Council Member Gentile from Brooklyn and I just, I'm

         25  going to end questioning but I want to say this
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          2  dialogue is encouraging to me because it's very

          3  different than talking to Randall's Island Sports

          4  Foundation or others that don't quite get that

          5  public and open space means public and open space

          6  and as we go forward we've got to continue to make

          7  sure that New York City's open space stays open and

          8  it isn't up for sale for the highest bidder and

          9  since this is our really first conversation it's

         10  encouraging to hear those words coming from someone

         11  who's sitting on the other side of the table.  Thank

         12  you.

         13                 MS. KOCH: Thank you very much.  We

         14  encourage you all to come on a more gentle, seasonal

         15  day to visit the Island and we look forward to

         16  having a lot of visitors this Summer and hopefully,

         17  the right level investments so that we can build

         18  some of the park ideas you saw before you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Great.  Council

         20  Member Nelson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         22  I'd been advised that you have to leave very

         23  quickly, so I'll be really, really brief.  First, I

         24  enjoyed our tour, our walking and driving tour and

         25  the enormity of the Island is really profound.  172
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          2  acres and I don't think you realize unless you're on

          3  the Island as you found out, I'm sure.  Is there a

          4  future timeline, do you have one, as far as the park

          5  development?

          6                 MS. KOCH: Yes, just very quickly, the

          7  next stage, there are five teams that will be

          8  competing, then in June, we don't have specific

          9  dates in June, there will be a public forum, there

         10  will be a public exhibition, and we'll be looking,

         11  we'll actually have special public tours so that

         12  people can understand, people unlike you who have

         13  not been to the island yet, what it means, what does

         14  40 acres look like on the Island and then the jury

         15  will meet, and then once the team is chosen, then

         16  probably starting in the Fall there will be another

         17  process of public input thinking about what the

         18  design for the park is.  So that's where we are in

         19  terms of upcoming dates, if that answers your

         20  question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay.  And you

         22  will let us know, of course, of the timeline and the

         23  dates?  I know community voices are necessary,

         24  almost a mandate, I know.  But has it been your

         25  experience since this has been going on for so long
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          2  that is it possible that there are too many cooks in

          3  the kitchen?  It's hard for you to answer this, I

          4  understand, I'm only throwing it out for public

          5  purview.

          6                 MS. KOCH: I don't think so.  We only

          7  had 26,000 people visit last summer, so I'm looking

          8  for more visitors, so I don't know if that's too

          9  many cooks.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Visitors, yes,

         11  but people in decision making capacity?

         12                 MS. KOCH: I can't really comment on

         13  that, I've only been since May, so...

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'm only

         15  throwing it out really, as a possibility for

         16  everyone to consider.

         17                 MS. KOCH: I think this is a big

         18  project.  We're obviously are a State project and it

         19  requires considerable investment from the City and

         20  the State so, that's all I can say. It's expensive

         21  and we hope there will be the right level of

         22  investment.  If that comes with the cooks, I don't

         23  know.  I don't know if that answers your question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yeah, no.  You

         25  have to entertain every thought, I know.  It's like
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          2  the Trade Center, which is becoming an

          3  embarrassment, the length of time its taken to get

          4  going and Governors Island, we'd like it to move

          5  forward, through no fault of your own, I understand,

          6  but if you had to answer to 2,000 people, I don't

          7  know if we can get off the dime.  We have to come up

          8  with a more direct way to be doing this and, again,

          9  through no fault of your own whatsoever.  This is

         10  really, just, I'm throwing this out to the entire

         11  public.

         12                 MS. KOCH: I really can't comment.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No, I know.

         14  It was really more of a statement than a question.

         15  But thank you.  I appreciate that because I know

         16  you've got to be leaving.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: President Koch,

         18  thank you very much.  We will continue the dialogue,

         19  perhaps with a follow up joint hearing on the Island

         20  and as you pack up and leave, I'm going leave you

         21  with a thought, not to put anyone on the spot, and

         22  it won't since you're leaving and no comment is

         23  expected today but we have an advisory board and I'm

         24  honored to be able to serve as a member of the

         25  advisory board.  I think it would be fitting for the
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          2  authority to invite the Chairs of the Council's

          3  Parks Committee and Waterfront Committees to also

          4  serve as members of the advisory board, I think we

          5  would all benefit and the dialogue would benefit

          6  from their inclusion and again, that's not for any

          7  response here but I urge you to take that back and

          8  not to put anyone on the spot, not that their

          9  schedules aren't busy enough but,  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We'll get some

         11  more yentas. More yentas involved.  That's what you

         12  need.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you want to

         14  define yentas for those of us who don't yent?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: People sometimes

         16  more of a jawbone than a backbone to the project.  I

         17  think we're going to give President Koch, is that

         18  your equipment?  Oh you are? Wonderful.  Well,

         19  you're not leaving your equipment, are you? Okay,

         20  that's terrific.  So, now we will hear  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Wait, wait.  Can

         22  you give us a hard copy of this presentation?  No,

         23  no.  That's fine.  Okay.  So you go to the Island

         24  every day?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We're going to
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          2  have another tour.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How long is the

          4  boat ride? Okay.  I can do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Helen, we can

          6  provide a helicopter.  Council Member James, Council

          7  Member James, don't go there.  This park belongs to

          8  all the people of all the City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'll behave.  I

         10  came in late.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And I was going

         12  to offer you a candy.  So much for that.  Okay.  Now

         13  this Island also, in part, belongs to the Federal

         14  Government still and we will have on this Island

         15  both a Federal park and a City/State park.  So, to

         16  talk about the Federal Parkland aspect of this, we

         17  will call Michael Shaver, we'll talk after the

         18  woods, Council Member James, Michael Shaver of the

         19  National Park Service.  If you will just bear with

         20  us one moment, Mr. Shaver.

         21                 OK, please, Mr. Shaver, if you have

         22  any prepared statement and brief us on what's

         23  happening with the Federal park land on the island.

         24  Yeah, we have all sorts of shows here today.

         25                 MR. SHAVER: All sorts of fun stuff
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          2  here today. Members, staff, other folks, thank you

          3  for allowing me the opportunity to come and visit

          4  here.  My name is Michael B. Shaver. I'm a Chief

          5  Park Ranger for the National Park Service at

          6  Governors Island National Monument.  I've been with

          7  the National Park Service about 20 years.  My career

          8  started in Missouri and Arkansas where I was the

          9  historian and curator at President Truman's home in

         10  Independence, Missouri.  My job experience went on

         11  to Washington, DC where I worked at a large, urban

         12  park outside of Washington, DC and occasionally had

         13  the opportunity to work in the Washington office of

         14  the National Park Service.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What park was

         16  that?

         17                 MR. SHAVER: It was called Prince

         18  William Forest Park which is near Quantico,

         19  Virginia.  And then I had the opportunity to work at

         20  other National, Capitol region parks in the National

         21  Park Service.  The urban park system in Washington,

         22  DC is largely Federal with many National Parks such

         23  as Rock Creek and the Monumental core with the

         24  Monuments and Memorials.  I had the opportunity to

         25  work in New Orleans in the French Quarter and the
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          2  battlefield of New Orleans in Chalemette, Louisiana

          3  and then have transferred to New York to work at

          4  Teddy Roosevelt's house on Long Island in Oyster Bay

          5  and Governors Island is the next stop in my career.

          6                 Governors Island actually is an

          7  interesting place for me.  This is where my family

          8  comes to the New World in 1709 as a bunch of German

          9  immigrants, about 4,000 of them, who had escaped

         10  plague and wars and famines in Germany and emigrated

         11  to London and then were invited by the Queen to go

         12  to New York, against their will.  Arriving in New

         13  York, we were welcomed with open arms by the Chamber

         14  of Commerce at that time and essentially set out to

         15  quarantine on Governors Island for about seven

         16  months before the rest of that German community went

         17  up river to the Hudson and continued their life in

         18  the new world and by way of Philadelphia, North

         19  Carolina, Tennessee and Evening Shade, Arkansas, I

         20  have found my way back to New York after about 300

         21  years.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: It just goes to

         23  show, we're all New Yorkers at heart.

         24                 MR. SHAVER: My volunteer crew, staff

         25  at Sagamore Hill were largely from Brooklyn and I
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          2  always gave them great grief about them stealing all

          3  these pitchers from Arkansas to pitch for the

          4  Brooklyn Dodgers and I gave them great grief about

          5  being from Brooklyn and at my going away party I

          6  told them I actually was from New York and I have

          7  not heard from them since.

          8                 To let you know about the National

          9  Park Service and its role at Governors Island, the

         10  Island, as you probably may know some of the history

         11  of it, was a long time military post.  It was given

         12  over to the Federal government in 1800 and served as

         13  a military installation until 1996.  Its long

         14  history was largely with the army, which was there

         15  from 1794 until 1966 and then the Coast Guard, which

         16  considered it their crown jewel of bases, in fact it

         17  was the largest base and the only base of its type

         18  in the country for them, until they reluctantly had

         19  to leave in 1996. Thus began a number of years where

         20  the Island was somewhat in limbo as to its

         21  disposition.  It was to be sold at fair market value

         22  and through the foresight of Senator Moynihan and

         23  others, became this great public place in the making

         24  for New York.

         25                 In just a few hours before President

                                                            47

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2  Clinton left office, he declared the Governors

          3  Island National Monument, which was essentially two

          4  major fortifications on the Island.  For those of

          5  you have visited the Island, you may have seen them.

          6    There were actually three forts on the Island in

          7  its history.  We received the two of the best.  Fort

          8  Jay which is sort of hidden from view on the Island

          9  and then Castle Williams which is on the corner of

         10  the Island and is visible by people who transfer

         11  back and forth from Staten Island each and every

         12  day.  It is actually clearly visible from the

         13  Battery and it was one of the most impressive gun

         14  platforms that the United States Army ever built in

         15  the defense of New York.

         16                 Governors Island was important for

         17  the defense of New York after the Revolutionary War.

         18    At least at the beginning of the Revolutionary

         19  War, New York was subjected to occupation for some

         20  seven years by the British and it was the feeling of

         21  the Federal government as well as State and local

         22  officials that that shouldn't happen again and a

         23  tremendous amount of effort was put into fortifying

         24  New York Harbor and three of the fortifications were

         25  on Governors Island.  Another one on Liberty Island,
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          2  which now serves as the base of the Statue of

          3  Liberty, and one on Ellis Island, which is

          4  underneath the Main Hall and another one which is in

          5  the Battery called Castle Clinton all these

          6  fortifications have different lives now.

          7                 Fort Jay and Castle Williams

          8  represent some of the best architectural features of

          9  military fortifications that are left in the country

         10  because it was part of a military post for such a

         11  long time, it received a sort of indirect

         12  preservation effort that was afforded few other

         13  forts in the country.  So, it is for that purpose

         14  that President Clinton, and again President Bush, in

         15  a subsequent Presidential Proclamation, declared

         16  them as being important enough to retain and to hold

         17  as a public trust and to essentially tell the story,

         18  not only of a fortification in New York Harbor, but

         19  the History of its Harbor and its ecology and

         20  through that protection what came to be one of the

         21  greatest cities and financial centers of the World.

         22                 As part of the National Park Service,

         23  it's my mission, as well as 20,000 other people's

         24  missions to preserve unimpaired, the natural and

         25  cultural resource and values of the Natural Park
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          2  System for the enjoyment and education and

          3  inspiration of this and future generations.  That

          4  includes anybody from Brooklyn, the Bronx, Omaha or

          5  Evening Shade, Arkansas.  There are 390 National

          6  Parks in the country and one of the newest ones

          7  established in the country was just last year, the

          8  African Burial Ground, which is just right up the

          9  street from us.  These parks reflect the country's

         10  most beautiful and important natural, cultural

         11  resources and reflect and preserve our country's

         12  major historical events, peoples, and places.

         13                 Governors Island isn't distinctive

         14  just for one time and event and place but

         15  essentially a whole range of history from 1794 to

         16  1966 and some of the major military leaders of this

         17  country and some of the major wars of this country

         18  have strong ties to this place.  Governors Island

         19  National Monument that is there is part of this

         20  system.  We manage 22 acres of Governors Island,

         21  and, as we said earlier the centerpieces are the two

         22  forts, the 1812 era fortifications at Castle

         23  Williams and Fort Jay, which are set within a

         24  National Historic Landmark, the Northern part of the

         25  Island, or as we always talk about the Island as
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          2  being ice cream shaped, the ice  cream of the ice

          3  cream cone, the historic district, which is also

          4  simultaneously a State and City historic

          5  preservation district.

          6                 We invite the public to attend, we've

          7  been partners with GIPEC and having a public program

          8  the first year the Island was open, through the

          9  efforts of RPA and others, we brought 4,000 people

         10  to Governors Island in 2003.  In 2004, we increased

         11  that number to 9,000.  In 2005, we increased that

         12  number to 11,000 and with the enthusiastic support

         13  of Leslie Koch and her staff we brought nearly

         14  30,000 people to the Island last year.  And we

         15  endeavor to try to expand that number as the extent

         16  of the Island's capacity, its infrastructure and its

         17  transportation resources will allow.

         18                 I know from some of the earlier

         19  questions from the Council Members there was an

         20  interest in having the Island open on Sunday.  The

         21  National Park Service, we share this interest and in

         22  watching Leslie's heroic efforts to try to make this

         23  happen with the infrastructure and facilities that

         24  aren't quite ready to make it happen, we were quite

         25  pleased with the efforts that she made, so I think
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          2  you can rest assured that we're going to be open

          3  longer as time goes on, as our finances and

          4  infrastructure allows.  So, everybody, more New

          5  Yorkers can take the opportunity to come and enjoy

          6  Governors Island.

          7                 Our plans are somewhat broad in their

          8  scope and direction.  We're in an interesting

          9  planning environment.  We are surrounded by a City

         10  and State holding and their planning efforts. Our

         11  notion is to make the National Monument the hub of a

         12  larger Harbor Adventure, it's not just a site in a

         13  Harbor but we would like for it to become more of a

         14  central site where connections can be made to other

         15  points in the harbor.  We know that's a strong

         16  interest of many of the Council Members and also the

         17  City Administration.

         18                 We'd like to, obviously, showcase the

         19  Island's most prominent remarkable architectural

         20  features, the two forts, which really caused the

         21  Island to be established as a military installation,

         22  we have a couple of non- historic, non- essential

         23  buildings that have been reviewed extensively by the

         24  City, State and Federal governments that are not

         25  necessary to tell the story and we would like to
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          2  remove them to reduce our cost and to open up the

          3  landscape and to give a better sense of the history

          4  that is there.  We'd like to open up the area and

          5  the views around Castle Williams and established the

          6  historic visual connections between Fort Jay and the

          7  Harbor, the Statue of Liberty and Ellis Island. The

          8  landscape, the parade ground, the large open space

          9  surrounding the fort, we'd like to open that up,

         10  restore it for passive recreational purposes,

         11  leaving the South half of the Island open for more

         12  active recreational purposes.  We'd like to develop

         13  informational kiosks at the boat landing and other

         14  key spots around the Island, realizing the Island's

         15  story is not contained just in the two forts but the

         16  history of the Island as a whole is important and

         17  something that we as a National Park Service are

         18  uniquely positioned to talk about and as part of a

         19  cooperative effort to make a better and broader

         20  experience for visitors coming to the Island.

         21                 We're collaborating with GIPEC on

         22  many, many levels. As far as landscape design, the

         23  treatment, the public programs, the park policies

         24  and endeavoring to actually sort of make ourselves

         25  invisible on the landscape, without the places of
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          2  fences, large markers, concertina wire or guards, so

          3  that your efforts walking from the National Monument

          4  to the rest of the Island is seamless and

          5  essentially that is the thrust of the National Park

          6  Service now, to help develop more of a seamless

          7  network of parks, through Federal, City and State

          8  efforts.

          9                 We're looking forward to developing

         10  educational programs in collaboration with the New

         11  York Harbor School, who will be the first tenant on

         12  the Island, as well as educational opportunities for

         13  the New York Public School System.  We are

         14  endeavoring, without fail, to work with our other

         15  sister parks in the National Park System here in New

         16  York to make those connections that visitors and

         17  also residents of the City can make to our park and

         18  other National Parks within the Metropolitan area.

         19                 The notion more specifically about

         20  Castle Williams is for it to become the Island's

         21  main exhibition and history center, focused on

         22  Harbor themes with additional flexible space for

         23  traveling exhibits and other events.  Fort Jay, the

         24  star- shaped fort which is buried in the middle of

         25  the Island but quite an impressive architectural
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          2  feature in its own right, is to become a compound or

          3  small short- term residential facility for

          4  scientists, artists, historians, researchers and

          5  writers, whose work and research focuses on the

          6  Island's history and Harbor themes.  Our schedule is

          7  basically regulated by our general management

          8  planning process.  We've been undergoing that for

          9  the last three years.  We hope to announce

         10  preliminary alternatives and put out an

         11  environmental impact statement sometime later this

         12  Summer.  At that point, that plan will be open for

         13  public review.  We will share it with the Council

         14  and any interested members of the Committees.  We

         15  welcome any comments that you would have on this

         16  plan.  It, again, is somewhat broad in its approach

         17  and flexible so it can deal with the eventual

         18  redevelopment of the rest of the Island and allows

         19  us not only flexibility to do what needs to be done,

         20  but essentially communicate to the President,

         21  Congress and other constituent groups and people who

         22  support us and provide our budgets what our long

         23  term plans are: Capital improvements infrastructure

         24  and long term preservation needs and until that time

         25  when we do announce our plan, we certainly invite
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          2  you to come to the island when it opens publicly

          3  this season on Saturday, June 2 and will continue to

          4  be open to the public on Fridays and Saturdays until

          5  the Saturday before Labor Day or by guided tour on

          6  Tuesdays, Wednesdays or Thursdays.  As Leslie also

          7  indicated, you don't have to wait until then, you

          8  can come see us at any time.

          9                 Are there any questions that the

         10  Council may have?

         11                 MR. GERSON: Let me just ask one, then

         12  I'll turn it over to my colleagues.  Just for

         13  clarification, the Federal jurisdiction on the

         14  Island, does that encompass all of what is the

         15  National Historic Landmark District?

         16                 MR. SHAVER: No, sir, it doesn't.

         17                 MR. GERSON: Could you just review  --

         18

         19                 MR. SHAVER: I wish I could kick start

         20  this thing into doing what I wanted it to do.  Let's

         21  see if we can try another one here.  And I'm the IT

         22  specialist on the Island.  Thank you very much.  Let

         23  it load up.

         24                 The Island itself is 172 acres, as we

         25  noticed earlier.  Hopefully in here we can find a
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          2  map of the Island to show you.  The National Park

          3  Service holding is essentially 22 acres of the

          4  Island.  It's the area immediately surrounding the

          5  forts.  You may have maps or graphics with you.  The

          6  two forts are largely in the upper half of the

          7  Island.  The star- shaped fort, Fort Jay, and then

          8  the castle- shaped castle in the corner.

          9                 MR. GERSON: That's what's referred to

         10  as the National Monument Area.

         11                 MR. SHAVER: The National Monument is

         12  22 acres of the 92 acres of the National Historic

         13  Landmark District so Federal interest in that

         14  Landmark District is somewhat reduced, I believe, if

         15  I were to give you some notion of what it might be

         16  with my knowledge of other National Park service

         17  areas, that area, its historic impact has to be

         18  evaluated before any federal funds can be spent on

         19  it so, if there was a notion to build an interstate

         20  highway across that, there's a national landmark

         21  historic district that deals with it.  It's

         22  concurrently a City and State historic landmark

         23  district so anything happening there would also be

         24  under the review of the City preservation

         25  organization.
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          2                 MR. GERSON: So in the Landmark

          3  District, which is the Northern part, bulge on the

          4  Island essentially, outside of the Monument area,

          5  the Federal involvement is restricted to a review

          6  process to assure any development by GIPEC, the

          7  City, the State comports with federal historic

          8  district guidelines?

          9                 MR. SHAVER: As I understand it, there

         10  are deed restrictions.  We're the lead federal

         11  agency to ensure that the deed restrictions are

         12  adhered to.  Other than that, our interest is

         13  minimal.

         14                 MR. GERSON: And then, in the monument

         15  area, though, the 22 acres  --

         16                 MR. SHAVER: That's our baby.  That's

         17  our responsibility.

         18                 MR. GERSON: Nothing happens there

         19  unless you make it happen.

         20                 MR. SHAVER: Pretty much.

         21                 MR. GERSON: Okay.  Chair Nelson.

         22                 MR. SHAVER: We do invite partners and

         23  other people to help and assist in other ways but we

         24  won't go into that today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Form an army and
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          2  take over from the Brooklyn side.  It's closer.

          3                 MR. GERSON: You'll need the support.

          4                 MR. SHAVER: Actually, to let you know

          5  about the realm of public input, what we do during

          6  the Summer is we take comments from the public.  We

          7  take about 600- 800 of them a year and we share them

          8  with GIPEC and one of the great leading comments of

          9  this year was, "Liberate Brooklyn."  So what we did

         10  with Leslie's gracious permission, opened up the

         11  Historic District so folks can get the view of

         12  Brooklyn and C Terminal at Red Hook.  Also, a

         13  considerable population of folks from Brooklyn made

         14  up our visitors this year, unlike previous years.

         15                 MR. NELSON: Oh, no doubt.  Well, we

         16  all make up the greatest City in the world.  Not one

         17  of the greatest cities in the world.

         18                 MR. SHAVER: And we also had our first

         19  public meeting in Brooklyn and Marty was happy to

         20  take the aisle over  --

         21                 MR. NELSON: Oh yeah.  He's organizing

         22  a formation of troops to challenge you.  We were

         23  joking about that when we visited the Island.  As

         24  far as the general management plan, sometime in the

         25  Summer, you said.
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          2                 MR. SHAVER: We hope.  At this point

          3  in time, it's undergoing internal review and getting

          4  ready to go to the Washington office and we hope to

          5  get it back sometime in the Summer.  Early summer,

          6  mid- Summer.

          7                 MR. NELSON: Good.  Because I believe,

          8  most people, especially in this room, perhaps, want

          9  to see this chugging ahead as fast as possible so I

         10  hope they did stick to that Summer plan, although so

         11  many people are not around in the Summer, I'm afraid

         12  that it's going to be, then, in the Fall?

         13                 MR. SHAVER: I believe under the

         14  Federal regulations there is a protracted public

         15  comment period.  There's at least a 60 days.  I

         16  could be wrong about that.  If your staff would like

         17  to contact me later we can get particular details

         18  about that.  We're going to get it out there as soon

         19  as it comes back to us with the ability to get it

         20  out there.

         21                 MR. NELSON: I was impressed with your

         22  resume, by the way.  What part of Arkansas were you

         23  from?

         24                 MR. SHAVER: My family is from North

         25  Central Arkansas.
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          2                 MR. NELSON: Little Rock.

          3                 MR. SHAVER: Little Rock.  It's North

          4  of Little Rock.

          5                 MR. NELSON: I was Strategic Air

          6  Command.  I was in Blitheville.  In the Air Force.

          7  Lovely State.  Produced a pretty good President.

          8                 MR. SHAVER: Yes, we had one or two.

          9                 MR. NELSON: Well, thank you.  Madam

         10  co- chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  I've

         12  actually never been to the State of Arkansas.  I

         13  look forward to going eventually. We've been joined

         14  by Council Member Mendez from Manhattan, Council

         15  Member Brewer from Manhattan and Council Member John

         16  Liu from Queens and we've been talking about

         17  transportation and how we're going to get to the

         18  Island, John, so, that's something to think about.

         19  Any questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Actually, I just

         21  have one follow up.  With respect to the use of

         22  Castle Williams, you're probably familiar with the

         23  Globe Theater proposal?

         24                 MR. SHAVER: We've heard of it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Maybe for the
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          2  benefit of my colleagues you could describe that and

          3  then tell us where it stands in the process of

          4  evaluation.

          5                 MR. SHAVER: Well, at this point in

          6  time our plan is still in progress.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Do you want to

          8  just describe what the proposal is?

          9                 MR. SHAVER: I feel somewhat

         10  uncomfortable in describing the process of a private

         11  individual at this time.  I can endeavor some short

         12  length  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Essentially, it's

         14  a theater group that has actually met with

         15  Administration officials without receiving, as far

         16  as I know, any kind of endorsement, I know they have

         17  consulted closely with the Administration and they

         18  have developed a proposal to create what is close to

         19  a replica of a theater existing in London that would

         20  make use of the open air castle.  That's a long

         21  story made short.  And I know they have submitted

         22  that to you, so I'm curious as to where that

         23  particular proposal stands and have you reached any

         24  policy decisions on the use of the castle for that

         25  type of culture.
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          2                 MR. SHAVER: Actually, at this point

          3  in time we're not in a position to accept a

          4  proposal.  We haven't put out our planning

          5  alternatives yet.  So, I mean, at this point, we

          6  gather in a very broad sense, what the globe theater

          7  folks are interested in. We have no judgements about

          8  it at this point in time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You said the

         10  planning alternatives will be presented later this

         11  Spring?

         12                 MR. SHAVER: Yes, sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: They will be

         14  essentially what? Guidelines for uses within the

         15  monument area?

         16                 MR. SHAVER: Part of that is a

         17  restatement of federal law and federal regulations.

         18  We don't operate in a vacuum, we don't always, you

         19  know, when a President or Congress goes to the

         20  effort to establish a National Park area, it's

         21  established with certain values in mind, certain

         22  things, somebody has decided on behalf of the people

         23  of the United States that this is an important

         24  place, its got an important story to tell.  There

         25  are a number of ways we can go about telling it,
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          2  there are a number of ways we can go about

          3  preserving it or maintaining it or allowing for its

          4  continued use, whether its suitable or not.  We just

          5  have to put it through that matrix, anything that we

          6  plan to do there has to go through that matrix of is

          7  it a sound preservation idea, is it a sound historic

          8  proposition, is it consistent with the legislation

          9  and the mandates that Congress and the President

         10  have given us?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm just trying

         12  to figure out the functional purpose of the planning

         13  alternatives.  Will they, in a sense, be guidelines

         14  for potential future uses of that part of the

         15  Island?

         16                 MR. SHAVER: What they are are a range

         17  of alternatives essentially based off the National

         18  Environmental Protection Act of 1969 where the

         19  Federal Government in all its efforts is supposed to

         20  look at a range of activities and what they do in

         21  long term planning so there's no action alternative,

         22  which is status quo, there's a minimal alternative,

         23  where we maintain our management structures and our

         24  efforts just within our boundaries, there's a

         25  broader alternative which seeks to find a broader
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          2  role for ourselves not only in our monument but also

          3  on the Island and then what, I think, will be the

          4  preferred alternative is the National Monument tries

          5  to become something of a center in conjunction with

          6  everything else that's happening on the Island as a

          7  sort of center point, a Grand Central Station for

          8  the Harbor, a one- stop destination where you can

          9  come and go to other places by ferries or other

         10  means of transportation to other sites along the

         11  Harbor.

         12                 Those of you who've been out there,

         13  you realize the central location of the Island and

         14  you get a perspective of the Harbor there that you

         15  would get from no other place.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And you did say

         17  there'll be a public hearing following the   --

         18                 MR. SHAVER: Yes, once we release it,

         19  we'll have at least one and probably several public

         20  meetings.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And finally,

         22  since you're such a history buff and, obviously,

         23  very knowledgeable, such an historian, I should say

         24  to give you full credit.  Would there, should there,

         25  be plans for a Coast Guard Museum given the historic
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          2  use by the Coast Guard of the Island.

          3                 MR. SHAVER: We gather from what we

          4  hear in other places that the Coast Guard has

          5  decided on a location for their museum in New

          6  London, Connecticut.  That effort has got a lot of

          7  steam, its got a lot of support, it will probably

          8  chug on its way. Actually, I think it will probably

          9  go into an old historic fort up there.  We will

         10  endeavor to try and share the Coast Guard's story as

         11  well as the long military history of the Island.

         12  One of the more fascinating lines of research that

         13  I'm going on right now is the first shot of the

         14  Civil War.  Why'd they shoot it and what were they

         15  shooting at?  They were shooting at boats coming

         16  from Governors Island to re- provision Fort Sumpter.

         17    So, the Civil War in some respects starts from a

         18  little dock that we now own off the edge of

         19  Governors Island.  World War I, John Pershing leaves

         20  there to go lead the American Allied Expeditionary

         21  Force in France. World War II, Omar Bradley stops by

         22  to Cherry pick first army staff before he leads the

         23  invasion on D- Day.  So there is a lot, a lot of

         24  history there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Certainly, there
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          2  is a lot of history and too often we ignore it in

          3  this City so we look forward to preserving it on the

          4  Island.  I do think there is interest within the

          5  Coast Guard for having a, if not THE Coast Guard

          6  Museum, a museum or a satellite pertaining to its

          7  history on the Island or in the New York area that

          8  is of significance.  Whether it's a wing of a

          9  broader museum or a separate structure, I think it's

         10  imperative that we not lose that aspect  --

         11                 MR. SHAVER: We don't think so.  That

         12  use is totally consistent within our plans and we've

         13  been talking with the Coast Guard on other matters

         14  as far as displaying an historic art collection

         15  here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay. Thank you.

         17  Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. SHAVER: Thank you, sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Please.  Thank

         20  you and we look forward to meeting with you again on

         21  the Island.  We will now hear from Robert Gottheim

         22  representing Congressmember Jerry Nadler, Mary

         23  Cooley representing Borough President Scott

         24  Stringer, and Julie Nadell representing Community

         25  Board 1, the Community Board of Governors Island.

                                                            67

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Good morning.  My name

          3  is Robert Gottheim and I'm Congressman Nadler's

          4  Director of District Relations.  I'm sorry that the

          5  Congressman couldn't be here but he is in

          6  Washington, Congress is in session, and I have a

          7  prepared statement which I will read, it's a short

          8  statement, and I'll be happy to take some questions.

          9                 First, I would like to begin by

         10  thanking Chairpersons Alan Gerson, Helen Foster and

         11  Mike Nelson for scheduling this joint hearing to

         12  discuss the status and timing of the park space and

         13  master development for Governors Island.

         14                 For two centuries, Governors Island,

         15  with its storied past and breathtaking views, was

         16  public land that the general public could not visit.

         17    After years of effort on my part and others to get

         18  the Federal government to transfer ownership of

         19  Governors Island to the State and more years of

         20  subsequent planning and preparation, nothing much

         21  seemed to happen on the Island.  But today I firmly

         22  believe after numerous starts and stops, that we are

         23  finally on the brink of seeing this already unique

         24  place finally be transformed into an incredible

         25  asset for the City.
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          2                 As I mentioned, the process for

          3  redeveloping Governors Island has been slow and

          4  regrettably much delayed, but now the Governors

          5  Island Education and Preservation Corporation

          6  (GIPEC) is involved in a two- stage process to

          7  designate a professional land services design firm

          8  to work with GIPEC to design the park, waterfront

          9  promenade and other public open spaces anticipated

         10  on Governors Island.  In response to its recent RFQ

         11  (the first stage of the two- stage solicitation),

         12  GIPEC has selected five design consultant teams to

         13  participate in a design competition for the Island.

         14  This RFP will not result in the selection of a final

         15  design of new public spaces; rather the design

         16  competition will be used by GIPEC, the public and a

         17  jury of distinguished professionals and government

         18  officials to select a team that will help in the

         19  design of the open spaces for Governors Island.

         20                 I would like to also commend Leslie

         21  Koch, the President of GIPEC on her commitment to

         22  public input and an open process as we move forward

         23  in re- imagining the Island.  Under her leadership

         24  GIPEC has been strongly committed to a public input

         25  and public participation.  She has established an
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          2  advisory council, comprised of elected officials,

          3  representatives of business, civic, community and

          4  preservation groups to advise in the redevelopment

          5  of the Island.  I am proud to state that I am a

          6  member of the Advisory Council and look forward to

          7  participating in the process.  But, turning to the

          8  Federal Government, it is unfortunate that the State

          9  and City efforts to redevelop this piece of American

         10  history are being dragged down by the Federal

         11  government's failure to live up to its

         12  responsibilities.  When President Bush transferred

         13  ownership of Governors Island to the State in 2003,

         14  he also officially designated Fort Jay, Castle

         15  Williams and parts of the Historic Parade Grounds a

         16  National Monument.  Unfortunately, pre- existing

         17  asbestos and lead conditions within the buildings of

         18  the Monument have kept Americans from fully

         19  experiencing and enjoying New York's newest national

         20  park.

         21                 For three and a half years, I have

         22  attempted to appropriate funds at the behest of the

         23  Governors Island Alliance to enable the National

         24  Park Service to remediate these conditions and truly

         25  open Governors Island National Monument to the
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          2  public. Each year, assurances have been given by

          3  Park Service officials in Washington that the

          4  remediation project would be reflected in the

          5  President's budget request the following year.

          6  However, once again, it appears that HazMat

          7  remediation for Governors's Island was pushed off

          8  the priority list.

          9                 As we enter into the appropriation

         10  season in Washington for next year's budget, I am

         11  committed to working to insure that funding for a

         12  HazMat remediation for Governors Island is a

         13  priority for the National Park Service.  We cannot

         14  afford to wait any longer.  A continued delay in

         15  completely opening the National Monument to visitors

         16  may interfere with or impede the upcoming

         17  redevelopment process.  Having a National Monument

         18  on Governors Island should be an asset, not a

         19  liability.  Until the Federal government takes the

         20  necessary health and safety measures to make this a

         21  fully functioning national park, they are hanging an

         22  albatross around the necks of the State and City

         23  officials and the civic leaders who are working to

         24  make Governors Island the newest unforgettable

         25  destination in the greatest City in the World.
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          2                 The only thing I would add that is

          3  not in the Congressman's prepared testimony is

          4  something that you, Council Member Gerson, talked

          5  about which was the new Globe Theater.  That is a

          6  project that the Congressman likes very much, he's

          7  encouraged by it.  He and his colleagues are

          8  preparing a Dear Colleague letter to the head of the

          9  National Park Service to get the new Globe Theater

         10  designated for the Island.  He thinks that it is a

         11  project that is very worthy and one that should

         12  definitely go forward.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Because out of

         15  all of these pages I had as a pre- condition to

         16  Chair this meeting, HazMat was not mentioned once,

         17  Rob, so this is a tremendous wrinkle in the whole

         18  problem, here.

         19                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: The gentleman

         21  from the National Park Service,  --

         22                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Didn't mention it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm not faulting

         24  you for that, it wasn't your job to say this, the

         25  Congressman's office was and, in fact, did.  All
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          2  right.  Another problem.

          3                 MR. GOTTHEIM: It's $2.1 million, I

          4  believe, is what we need, I believe, is what we need

          5  to remediate the hazardous material.  We are going

          6  to put in the budget again during the appropriation

          7  process, which is now.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And the City

          9  government knew about this, the Administration, I

         10  mean?

         11                 MR. GOTTHEIM: The Administration

         12  knows about it, but again, its the part of the Park

         13  that's the National Monument and it's the National

         14  Park Service.  It's not something that GIPEC has

         15  control over and not something that the City and

         16  State has control over.  It's part of the Federal

         17  government's property.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We could not have

         19  jumped in sooner.  It needs the feds to do that.

         20                 MR. GOTTHEIM: The blame is really,

         21  again, on the administration and the National Park

         22  Service for not making this a priority.  And as the

         23  Congressman for the past three years has attempted

         24  to get this funding, we expect that we will be, we

         25  are in the majority, we expect to get this funding
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          2  this year to remediate this.  We've had discussions

          3  with Leslie Koch and we've had discussions, this is

          4  something the Governors Island Alliance is very

          5  strongly in support of, it's something that they

          6  have brought to the Congressman's attention, it's

          7  something that he is pushing forward in Washington.

          8  It's just regrettable that it's not a priority of

          9  the National Park Service and, you know, the budget

         10  dance in Washington as we've discussed other times

         11  is, the President puts forward his budget and if

         12  it's not in there, it's up to Congress then to put

         13  the money forward.  It's harder to do under that

         14  dance.  There are other projects when it should be a

         15  priority of the administration and this project

         16  should not be in the dance, it should be part of the

         17  President's budget that he released for FY 2008.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Just don't take

         19  it away from the money we need to re- nourish the

         20  shoreline.

         21                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That comes from Energy

         22  and Water and this is a different funding area, so

         23  the two don't mix, but we won't.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Oh sure.  Just

         25  jesting.  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That's a different

          3  hearing, for those who weren't there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Back to my co-

          5  chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: If it would

          7  helpful to the Congressman's efforts, let us know if

          8  you would like a resolution on the part of the

          9  Council calling on the Park Service and the Federal

         10  Government or the President to include this funding.

         11                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I think that would be

         12  helpful, certainly, so it could be:

         13                 A. A resolution you could do,

         14                 b. A letter signed by the Speaker

         15  along with Council Members, that would be extremely

         16  helpful, we would add it to our submission to the

         17  Appropriations Committee in saying, "this has broad

         18  public support."

         19  I know GIPEC is going to do a letter, I think the

         20  Mayor is also going to do a letter, so we would

         21  certainly welcome the Council to also show their

         22  support for this $2.1 million appropriation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well great, I'm

         24  sure we'll follow up and thank you, and as always,

         25  thank Congressmember Nadler for his brilliant
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          2  leadership.  Ms. Cooley?

          3                 MS. COOLEY: Hi, Good Morning.  My

          4  name is Mary Cooley.  I'm here on behalf of

          5  Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer.

          6                 Good morning, Lower Manhattan

          7  Redevelopment Committee Chair Alan Gerson,

          8  Waterfront Committee Chair Michael Nelson, Parks &

          9  Recreation Chair Helen Foster and Committee members.

         10    Thank you for holding today's important hearing on

         11  Governors Island.  I appreciate the opportunity to

         12  testify about the Island's future.

         13                 The development of Governors Island

         14  represents an exciting planning opportunity for our

         15  City and an unparalleled chance to create

         16  Manhattan's next great public space.  It is rare to

         17  have the opportunity to plan for an area with so

         18  much untapped development potential, especially in

         19  Manhattan, and I have made it one of my top

         20  priorities to ensure that the Island is developed

         21  wisely.  I would like to congratulate and commend

         22  Mayor Bloomberg, Governor Spitzer, Governors Island

         23  Preservation and Education Corporation Chair Dan

         24  Doctoroff, Vice Chair Pat Foye and President Leslie

         25  Koch for the great work they have done to put the
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          2  development of the island at the top of our City's

          3  development agenda.  I also want to recognize the

          4  island's many friends in the civic community,

          5  especially the Governors Island Alliance, for their

          6  successful efforts to reclaim the Island for New

          7  York and their continuing efforts to advocate for

          8  public use in its future development.

          9                 I feel so strongly about Governors

         10  Island's future and the importance of opening it up

         11  to visitors that I awarded $500,000 in capital funds

         12  for the development of a new visitor's center for

         13  the Island.  This is going to be a great first step

         14  in opening up the Island and helping visitors make

         15  sense of its history and its promise.  I am also

         16  working with GIPEC and the Governors Island Alliance

         17  on grant fund applications for planning and

         18  feasibility work related to the center and related

         19  educational programming.

         20                 GIPEC should be congratulated for

         21  undertaking significant public outreach efforts and

         22  for seeking meaningful input from civic, community

         23  and planning organizations into the future

         24  development of the Island.  Last year, I proposed

         25  that GIPEC officially form a public advisory
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          2  committee, composed of local elected officials,

          3  community organizations and civic and planning

          4  organizations.  I am extremely pleased that GIPEC

          5  agreed to do this and it gave me great pride to

          6  attend the Advisory Council's first meeting just a

          7  few weeks ago.  Having an active public advisory

          8  committee will excite New Yorkers about the Island's

          9  potential by involving the public in the planning

         10  process.  It will also yield a better final product

         11  by giving GIPEC valuable feedback from distinguished

         12  members of New York's civic community.  I look

         13  forward to participating in the Advisory Council's

         14  important work.

         15                 Now that GIPEC has selected five

         16  world- class landscape architects and architecture

         17  firms as finalists in a competition to design the

         18  Island's open space, it is important that the public

         19  play a strong role in the planing choices that GIPEC

         20  will make.  GIPEC should involve the public and the

         21  Advisory Committee in the crafting of a second-

         22  stage Request for Proposal (RFP) for designing and

         23  programming 40 acres of open space on the Southern

         24  end of the Island.  The RFP should encourage

         25  environmentally sustainable landscaping practices,
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          2  plans that encourage public accessibility to all

          3  parts of the Island, and designs that creatively

          4  link different open spaces throughout the island

          5  into one easily accessible network.  The, GIPEC

          6  should share the firms' exciting ideas and designs

          7  at public forums, and solicit input from the public

          8  and the Advisory Committee before a winning firm is

          9  chosen later this year.

         10                 If planned carefully, the resulting

         11  parks and open space will be more than a series of

         12  green spaces.  They will be the first outlines of a

         13  master plan that will guide the development of the

         14  Island for decades to come.

         15                 While everyone understands that there

         16  will be significant commercial components on the

         17  Island, we must be vigilant in ensuring that the

         18  development meets public goals.  The Island must

         19  fulfill its promise of providing world- class

         20  educational facilities, such as university uses and

         21  desperately needed public school space, such as a

         22  new home for the New York Harbor School.  We must

         23  create first- rate recreational facilities on the

         24  Island, both for visitors and for members of park-

         25  deprived nearby communities, such as Manhattan
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          2  Community District 1.  And the island's unique

          3  historic character must be preserved and maintained,

          4  especially for its national monuments and City

          5  landmarks.

          6                 But no matter how well planned it is,

          7  Governors Island cannot be allowed to remain an

          8  island unto itself.  It must be integrated into the

          9  life of the rest of the City by a strong

         10  transportation access plan.  Whether the plan

         11  involves ferries or gondolas, or something else

         12  entirely, it must be planned carefully with input

         13  from the adjoining communities.  The Island also

         14  needs significant infrastructure investments,

         15  especially asbestos remediation and environmental

         16  cleanup that has long been promised by the Federal

         17  government.  That means strong support in the State

         18  and City budgets for this and future fiscal years.

         19  I pledge my support to work with GIPEC, the

         20  Governor, the Mayor, the State Legislature and the

         21  City Council, to develop and fund a solid

         22  transportation and infrastructure investment plan

         23  for the Island.

         24                 With an open, public planning process

         25  and strong investment in parkland, infrastructure
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          2  and transportation, the Island's future is limited

          3  only by New Yorkers' imaginations.  If we plan for

          4  exciting new development on Governors Island while

          5  still prioritizing education, recreation and open

          6  space, the island will become an integral part of

          7  our City that we will wonder how we ever ignored it

          8  for so long.  I look forward to working with all of

          9  you to make the Island the great place we all know

         10  it can be.

         11                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         12  to testify.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         14  much.  Ms. Nadell, who has been involved in this

         15  process almost from its inception.  Thank you for

         16  being here.

         17                 MS. NADEL: Well, thanks for having me

         18  here today. I'm Julie Nadell, I'm chair of the

         19  Waterfront Committee of Community Board 1,

         20  Manhattan.

         21                 Now, Community Board 1 supports the

         22  position of the Governors Island Alliance.  You're

         23  going to hear from them shortly.  We've been working

         24  with them.  Right after me.  We feel that in order

         25  to get people on Governors Island there has to be
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          2  something to draw them there, at least now.  Special

          3  projects, festivals, what not there has to be

          4  something there.  People will go there otherwise,

          5  just to check it out, but, really you want it to be

          6  a destination point there has to be interesting

          7  activities going on.

          8                 As far as Community Board 1 is

          9  concerned, the most pressing need that Board 1 has

         10  is for active field space, to use those fields on

         11  Governors Island.  And we need them to be permitted

         12  so our leagues can use them Saturday and Sunday.

         13  And that means, we need ferries to go there

         14  Saturdays and Sundays.  Of everything else Board 1

         15  needs, active field space is top of the list.  We

         16  have 800 kids in the Downtown Little League, we have

         17  soccer leagues, we have other leagues, and they all

         18  need open, active field space.  And the problem

         19  we've had up to now, my understanding is, that we've

         20  not been able to use those fields for permitted use,

         21  we can use them here and there, once in a while, but

         22  when we schedule the games, it would be incredibly

         23  helpful to be able to have them permitted so we

         24  could depend on them on a regular basis to

         25  supplement the field space we already have.
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          2                 Now if that were done, it would open

          3  up, it would bring thousands of children, and their

          4  parents, out to the Island every week and that could

          5  only lead to good things, because people when they

          6  get used to going out there for regular activity

          7  like that would be much more inclined to go out for

          8  other activities as well.  So that's just number

          9  one.

         10                 Now the other couple points have to

         11  do with the water, since Governors Island, as we

         12  know, is an island.  To not utilize the maritime

         13  potential is a great loss to the public. Restoring

         14  the piers or bringing in an adequately sized spud

         15  barge would allow for boats and ships to tie up on

         16  the Island.  This could include historic ships,

         17  other types of ships, boats and that again would

         18  draw people to the Island.  We could have a weekend

         19  or week- long historic ship festival or other type

         20  of maritime festival on the Island.  People would be

         21  interested to go, they could tour the ships, perhaps

         22  some of the vessels could go around the Island and

         23  you could have a tour of the Island from the water.

         24  It could be very interesting.

         25                 One problem that we have encountered
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          2  or people trying to do this have encountered is,

          3  it's my understanding that there's been the number

          4  $25 million for insurance to insure these vessels at

          5  Governors Island is the number that's been floated,

          6  excuse the expression, and the only thing that $25

          7  million of insurance requirement will insure is that

          8  no vessels will ever show up at Governors Island.

          9  So, if more reasonable policies could be put into

         10  place, to actually allow ships and vessels and other

         11  boats to come there, dock even for short term, long

         12  term, whatever, I think that would add a lot

         13  because, obviously, the Island, a lot of potential,

         14  I'd hate to see it land- locked.

         15                 And the last thing I'd just like to

         16  mention is we think that a triangular ferry service

         17  between Brooklyn, Manhattan and Governors Island

         18  would be very good.  Because people in Brooklyn,

         19  it's literally a stone's throw, a stone's throw,

         20  this Island from Brooklyn, okay, and if there was a

         21  triangular ferry service and really incorporated

         22  Brooklyn into it, it's that many more people who'd

         23  go, that many more people who'd feel connected to

         24  the Island, that many more people who'd care.  Now,

         25  Governors Island is technically in Board 1's domain,
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          2  but, if you look at the map, it's real close to

          3  Brooklyn and we would like our Brooklyn friends and

          4  colleagues on Community Board 6 to also, and the

          5  Borough of Brooklyn, to have access to the Island,

          6  too.  We don't own it, and it's for everyone.  The

          7  more people looking at it, reviewing, and going

          8  there, the better.  The better for all of us.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I would just

         11  point out how magnanimous we are in Lower Manhattan

         12  in terms of, as reflected in the testimony of Julie

         13  Nadell.  But the point is absolutely correct.  We

         14  did invite Brooklyn Community Board 6 to this

         15  hearing and they may have been waylaid by the

         16  weather but, we will certainly reach out and work

         17  with them from the Council.  I know my colleagues

         18  from Brooklyn will make sure of that but they don't

         19  need to make sure of that, because as I said

         20  earlier, this is an island for all the people of the

         21  City and I would just like to note and appreciate

         22  the ongoing presence of officials of GIPEC and Vice

         23  President Michele Markez and I would like to follow

         24  up this hearing with maybe a meeting in the near

         25  future to see if we can plan permitted use in the
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          2  upcoming Spring and Summer season for some of the

          3  leagues and schools that have expressed, whether

          4  they be from Brooklyn or Manhattan, which have

          5  expressed an interest.  It would be a shame if we

          6  cannot figure out a way to accommodate their

          7  schedules since the land is there and whatever

          8  technical holdups exist, we should be able to figure

          9  out a way around that.  Why don't we again, let's

         10  put that on our list of goals for the upcoming warm

         11  weather season, Spring through the Fall.

         12                 My colleague, co- chair Nelson.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: This is, it might

         14  be a sticky issue, I'm not so sure, but, anybody

         15  want to weigh in about the thoughts of a tram?  It's

         16  sticky, isn't it?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I can speak on

         18  that a little bit.  The cost of putting together a

         19  tram is, it looks like it would be very expensive,

         20  and that doesn't mean it's not a good idea but,

         21  there are boats, there are ferries, there are

         22  vessels that can accomplish this purpose of access

         23  right now and the infrastructure needed to

         24  accommodate vessels going back and forth between

         25  Brooklyn, Manhattan and the Island is minimal and so

                                                            86

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2  if we want to get people on right now, I would say,

          3  go with the boats.  This New York Harbor is one of

          4  the major harbors in the World and to not use

          5  vessels for access and for transportation is a big

          6  loss but in the long run, we could have huge studies

          7  talking about tram and what not, I mean, why not?

          8  But, I think we're a little more practical right

          9  here.  Let's get people on the Island right now.

         10  And let's get people to see what it's like and let's

         11  do it.  And it's so much easier to use ferries,

         12  vessels, boats.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I think the

         14  ambiance might be adversely impacted, also, with a

         15  tram as well.  I don't know how, if it would block

         16  part of the skyline or what have you.  I mean, it

         17  seems to be a practical solution in some respects

         18  but the other part of it might uglify the situation

         19  overall, that's why I was just throwing it out

         20  there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, you know

         22  Queen Mary, wouldn't the ships have to get under

         23  wherever the tram is, the bridge of the tram would

         24  have to go pretty high, because it a pretty tall,

         25  big ship, so, that consideration would have to weigh
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          2  in and anything that impeded vessel access would not

          3  be acceptable.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Is the Queen Mary

          5  going up?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Does it not go

          7  that far?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: The possibility

          9  exists, which we would negate that from occurring, I

         10  would imagine, anyway.  You have a lot of people in

         11  the Community Board, for instance, or Scott

         12  Stringer's office, I guess, calling in or coming in,

         13  writing in about the issue of Governors Island?

         14                 MS. NADEL: There's a lot of interest

         15  in Governors Island and, you know, part of our

         16  Community Board oversees Governors Island, so there

         17  has been a lot of interest.  I think what it all

         18  coalesced down to is this, this field space is the

         19  most immediate, pressing concern right now and all

         20  the others follow that, because of the lack of space

         21  for kids to play.  See, Lower Manhattan is getting

         22  developed so quickly, we have condominiums in

         23  buildings going up with hundreds of thousands of

         24  people moving in. It's a huge influx, which is

         25  wonderful, but, there's no field space for these
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          2  kids, there all kids in strollers and kids growing

          3  up, there's not enough place for them to play.  I

          4  won't speak for Brooklyn.  I think in Brooklyn, what

          5  I've heard is, there are some fields for people to

          6  play in Brooklyn, but I would say that opening up

          7  the fields on Governors Island and allowing them to

          8  be used because they're there already, everybody

          9  could use them.  They're great.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And that's what

         11  it's supposed to be about.  I know, you're quite

         12  bereft.  I know in your neck of the woods for a

         13  park.  This is really what most of what the dream

         14  was about was, besides educational usage, parks as

         15  well.  And I salute all of you for your involvement

         16  with this.  Again, I just hope that there aren't

         17  rule by 2,000 or 2 million people because we'll

         18  never get a spade in the ground.  Okay.  Thank you.

         19  I know we need the involvement.  I know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         21  much, all of you. Let's now hear from Robert Pirani

         22  of the Governors Island Alliance, as promised,

         23  Albert Butzel from the Governors Island Alliance and

         24  Carter Craft from the Metropolitan Waterfront

         25  Alliance.  Following this panel, we have one
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          2  concluding panel consisting of Rick Bell and Micaela

          3  Birmingham and anyone else who may sign up.

          4                 Mr. Pirani, you got there first so

          5  why don't you start us off.

          6                 MR. PIRANI: There we go.  I guess

          7  it's the rule of sitting close to the table here.

          8  Let me start out by thanking the Council for your

          9  continued interest in Governors Island.  You folks

         10  have been leaders in many ways.  I would like to

         11  recognize Chair Gerson for his contribution to the

         12  Summer Programming along with Borough President

         13  Stringer and Congressman Nadler for their efforts in

         14  securing funding to get this Island open to the

         15  public. It's something that all New Yorkers and of

         16  course, the Alliance in particular welcomes.  I

         17  prepared some written comments.  Let me summarize

         18  them in the interest of time and really hit the

         19  highlights and let my colleagues in the Alliance

         20  also to get a chance to get their two cents in.

         21                 The most important message I can

         22  convey to you at today's hearing is that the Council

         23  should really support the efforts in the current

         24  progress towards creating the Island's parkland by

         25  providing the needed capital funding and the
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          2  political leadership to see that funding wisely

          3  spent.  Since the last council hearing as you heard,

          4  GIPEC has made considerable progress and we'd like

          5  to see both in terms of the park design and in

          6  securing the Harbor School as the Island's first

          7  tenant but in order to not lose the progress, and

          8  Chair Nelson, in your well spoken comments about the

          9  timeline and how long these things take, you know,

         10  what's going to make it happen is continued

         11  oversight and, of course, funding to make it happen.

         12                 GIPEC, the Mayor's current budget

         13  calls for about $74 million over the next two fiscal

         14  years.  That's a request that we endorse at the

         15  Alliance.  I think it will be funding that will, in

         16  fact, enable the Island to, in fact, be open much

         17  more substantially next Summer, the Summer 2008, and

         18  we hope to see park construction actually start by

         19  2009.  Unfortunately, the Governor has not seen fit

         20  to follow this lead and put in the same amount of

         21  money in his current proposal to the State.  The

         22  current Governor. He has proposed about $16 million

         23  over the next two fiscal years and, unfortunately,

         24  given OMB's strictures, and perhaps to the City's

         25  benefit in some cases, the City is only going to
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          2  give as much money as the State puts in for the

          3  shared project, so we would urge the Council to both

          4  support the Mayor's request, but also to communicate

          5  to the Governor your desire to see that he also puts

          6  in, and to the State Legislature, the right amount

          7  of money to get the Island moving.

          8                 I'd also like to note that the Mayor

          9  has proposed about $21 million in capital money for

         10  FY 10.  We don't think that's enough.  Dan

         11  Doctoroff, and in previous testimony before these

         12  committees, GIPEC has said that the Island is going

         13  to require about $600 million in public money to be

         14  redeveloped.  We are hopeful, if we can stick to

         15  Chair Nelson's timetable, that by FY 10, in fact, we

         16  can start seeing shovels in the ground in a

         17  substantial way and, unfortunately, $21 million is

         18  not going to do it.  We're hopeful by that time the

         19  City and the State can be well on their way towards

         20  building both the park and towards realizing the

         21  rehabilitation and reuse of the historic buildings

         22  on the Island, in particular.  I'd like to call that

         23  to your attention. But again, the next two years, we

         24  believe, are critical both, you know, again, not

         25  just to get the park underway, but in and of itself
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          2  which is a very important goal, but also because we

          3  think creating a park, creating the amenity, is

          4  what's going to drive private redevelopment in the

          5  Island and that's something, you know, I think,

          6  Council persons Foster and Viverito spoke very

          7  eloquently and we're proud to support New Yorkers

          8  for Parks on the Randall's Island question, but the

          9  reality is there is about 1.5 million square feet of

         10  historic buildings on the Island that really do need

         11  private capital to be redeveloped.  That's not the

         12  park per se, but we think the park can be

         13  instrumental in attracting those private uses,

         14  whether they're educational uses or hospitality

         15  uses, to the Island.

         16                 Secondly, we believe GIPEC really

         17  needs to be held accountable to delivering both, not

         18  just the design competition, again, it's a great

         19  process, but also to deliver a park plan and master

         20  plan in the coming years.  When they accepted title

         21  to the Island, the City and State promised the

         22  Federal Government that they would deliver a master

         23  plan by 2007.  That's probably not going to be

         24  possible, unfortunately and I'm not blaming the

         25  current leadership at GIPEC for that but the reality
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          2  is is that we're behind in our obligations and we'd

          3  like to see that a firm timetable and commitments

          4  towards planning be well underway by the end of the

          5  year.

          6                 We'd also like to call attention,

          7  again we're very supportive of the design

          8  competition, and it's a great step forward, GIPEC

          9  and it's step deserve a lot of congratulations for

         10  attracting some top talent.  We want to call your

         11  attention to, as you monitor the RFP process and as

         12  you review it to two points within that.  First of

         13  all, I think Leslie Koch alluded to the idea of the

         14  park space being in the South being 25- 40 acres.

         15  In fact, our reading of the deed restrictions is

         16  that that really needs to be 40 acres, not 25- 40

         17  acres.  That's what the City and State committed to

         18  and that's what we'd like to see built on the

         19  Island.

         20                 Secondly,  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry, just

         22  for clarification.  The 40 acres to which you refer,

         23  does that include any of the National Historic

         24  District?

         25                 MR. PIRANI: No.  The total amount of
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          2  parkland that we see committed to is about 97 acres,

          3  22 acres within the National Monument, I believe 16

          4  acres within the Esplanade that would circle the

          5  Island, another 25 or so acres of designated

          6  historic landscapes within the Historic District and

          7  then a full 40 acres in the Southern half of the

          8  Island.  That's something my colleague, Al Butzel,

          9  and the rest of the Alliance have worked hard to

         10  achieve in the transfer and we'd like to see it

         11  fulfilled.

         12                 Secondly, the designers of the park

         13  should be instructed to address required public

         14  access within the development sites, as well.  Our

         15  vision for the Island is always that it's a park,

         16  the whole Island is a park and you have some private

         17  uses within it.  Obviously, some uses will be

         18  leaseholdings and, again, it's uses that help

         19  attract year- round visitors and provide some

         20  funding for the Island that's outside our designated

         21  park space but the casual visitor shouldn't

         22  understand any more than they should have to deal

         23  with any distinction between the National Park and

         24  the City and State Park.  They should feel those

         25  private uses, whether they're a school, or a hotel,
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          2  or a conference center should be welcoming to the

          3  public in the same way that the Central Park Zoo or

          4  the Metropolitan Museum in Central Park or the

          5  Botanic Gardens in Brooklyn provide specialized uses

          6  but don't exclude people and I think that's a

          7  critical piece and I think that's something the

          8  designers should be charged with.

          9                 Finally, I'd like to comment on the

         10  expansion of early public uses and I think you folks

         11  mentioned a few critical elements, the Sunday

         12  opening.  Most New Yorkers go to parks on Sunday.

         13  By making investments in the transportation

         14  infrastructure, we can make sure that GIPEC fulfills

         15  its responsibility as a park.  Second, just to echo

         16  and thank Congressman Nadler for his support for

         17  Castle Williams.  Last, but not least, a bunch of

         18  people mentioned access from Brooklyn.  About a

         19  month ago the Waterfront Committee held a hearing on

         20  Piers 7- 12. That location in particular, is well

         21  suited to be providing public access to the Island

         22  from Brooklyn.  While we're very cognizant of the

         23  need and desire other maritime uses on the site, but

         24  if, and I'm talking about not just water taxi uses,

         25  which could come from Atlantic Avenue, Fulton Ferry,
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          2  the Brooklyn Army Terminal and elsewhere, but down

          3  the road, once we find a new home for those

          4  container terminals and the other maritime uses

          5  there, a portion of those piers really need to be

          6  allocated for vehicular access to Governors Island.

          7  To make it truly part of Brooklyn, people need to be

          8  able to get there from Brooklyn and that includes

          9  not just the water taxi visitors but also Brooklyn

         10  businesses and other folks who may want to be

         11  transporting goods and services.  Again, it's not a

         12  matter, I know some folks in Brooklyn might view

         13  that as being, "hey, we're going to be the service

         14  entrance" to Brooklyn. I don't think that's what

         15  we're talking about.  I think what we're talking

         16  about is having as much front doors to the Island as

         17  possible.

         18                 So again, that you very much for your

         19  continued attention to this project.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you and I

         21  look forward to June second.  Mr. Butzel?

         22                 MR. BUTZEL: My name is Al Butzel and

         23  I'm part of the Governors Island Alliance.  You have

         24  my prepared testimony and Rob has covered most of

         25  the points, so I'm just going to emphasize several

                                                            97

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2  of the points I've identified in my testimony.

          3                 First, I think, as you have already

          4  reflected in your comments, great credit is due to

          5  Dan Doctoroff and Leslie Koch.  This has been a long

          6  running crap game, to say the least, and we're ten

          7  years from the time the Coast Guard left Governors

          8  Island and it is certainly been learning the hard

          9  way, by experience, but I think that Dan,

         10  particularly, has learned that this has to be a

         11  collaborative effort between the public sector and

         12  the private sector, you can't just go out and ask

         13  the private sector to come in and build and somehow

         14  provide the public amenities and I think that

         15  everyone has learned that there is going to have to

         16  be a significant amount of public dollars going in

         17  here in order to encourage developers to come in and

         18  build consistent with the park but in a way which

         19  will finance the long- term maintenance of the

         20  Island, which is key as, I don't remember who

         21  pointed it out, I think maybe it was Council Member

         22  Foster that maintaining these parks after they are

         23  created is critical and the idea of Governors Island

         24  is that the private sector lease revenues would be

         25  used for that purpose, so it has to be there.
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          2                 The second thing I would comment on

          3  is how important the Administration's commitment of

          4  $90 million in the capital budget over the next

          5  three years and particularly, the nearly $70 million

          6  in the next two years is to this effort.  We have

          7  lumbered along and we will continue to lumber along

          8  unless and until there is a major influx of capital

          9  which can go beyond simply restoring and buoying up

         10  the buildings that exist there.  These dollars which

         11  the Mayor has put in would, for example, allow GIPEC

         12  to remove all of the buildings at the South end of

         13  the Island which are not code compliant, have

         14  nothing to do with the historic side of the Island

         15  and will open up and make way for the park.   With

         16  about $20 or $25 million of that $69 million, that

         17  can be done and when that's done it's going to

         18  transform the entire appearance of Governors Island

         19  and it's going to stimulate tremendous interest in

         20  the development community.  I can remember talking

         21  with Jay Cross, who's now on the Board of GIPEC,

         22  five years ago and that was his suggestion.  He was

         23  involved significantly with Toronto Island in

         24  Toronto and he said the first thing you ought to do

         25  is tear those buildings down and you'll have a
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          2  completely different climate within which to move

          3  this project forward.  That is in the budget.  As

          4  Rob said, that $69 million has not been matched by

          5  the State.  As to that, I think it is very important

          6  that the Council Members, those who have connections

          7  with the Spitzer Administration and with ESDC, check

          8  in with them and encourage them to match that.

          9  Equally important, within the control of the City

         10  and the Mayor, there is no reason, I believe, why

         11  the City cannot spend its money first.  There is

         12  going to be $300- $400 million of State and City

         13  money going in here and I think the Mayor should be

         14  encouraged to release that money in order to allow

         15  this construction to go forward, even if it isn't

         16  totally matched by the State.  It's a travesty to

         17  have $30 million, which won't do anything over two

         18  years because the State is unwilling to put in more

         19  than $16 million when the City is willing to put in

         20  nearly $70 million, so I would urge you and Chris

         21  and her negotiations with the Mayor, to make that a

         22  priority.  The Council has taken the lead in these

         23  kind of situations before in convincing the

         24  executive to go ahead and spend money and I think

         25  this would be money well spent.

                                                            100

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2                 The third thing I would say is, this

          3  is going to be a park for all people.  There are

          4  obviously going to be tensions. You heard Julie talk

          5  about ballfields and other people are going to want

          6  other kinds of things and so on and so forth, but

          7  there is enough space out on Governors Island that

          8  has never been used before to satisfy all those

          9  needs and I think it's going to draw people from all

         10  over the City and there's no reason to get involved

         11  in the Randall's Island type situation that,

         12  unfortunately, has developed up in Northern

         13  Manhattan.

         14                 I can't tell you how appreciative I

         15  am that all three of you are sitting here in this

         16  hearing.  You have, between the three of you, you

         17  are the people who can make Governors Island an

         18  issue of priority for your Speaker and for the City

         19  and I couldn't be more pleased that you called this

         20  hearing.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We thank you,

         23  really.  I'd just like to say, you know, the work

         24  that you three individuals, Albert, Carter, Rob, and

         25  others who are in this room do, if I had a hat, I
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          2  would take it off to you because you really care so

          3  deeply about this and I don't think you're making

          4  the big bucks from this at all and it's really from

          5  the heart.  So, I'm really  --

          6                 MR. BUTZEL: I once described this

          7  moment in time as the moment when the industrial

          8  glacier, actually the maritime glacier recedes and

          9  for about ten or twenty years we have this option to

         10  recapture the waterfront for the public before the

         11  private sector dashes in again and gobbles up all

         12  the property, so we're trying to do it while we can.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well, it's very

         14  impressive.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, we want to

         16  do it while we can, so that's in the near future.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Before they have

         18  another candy store.  Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Mr. Craft.

         20                 MR. CRAFT: I'd prefer to say that the

         21  industrial glacier has been shrinking, but if it

         22  goes into full recession we're all in trouble

         23  because we've still got to eat and drink and build

         24  our houses and build our buildings and clothe

         25  ourselves and all that comes in and out of the port.
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          2                 My name is Carter Craft.  I'm

          3  Director of Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance.  I

          4  want to make four points:

          5                 1. To finish up or clarify a piece of

          6  old business from the last June hearing,

          7                 2. To show how the issue of today is

          8  critical for two other issues going on and playing

          9  out on the Harbor right now,

         10                 3. To focus on the park use, which is

         11  the object of the hearing.

         12                 Last June, at the City Council

         13  hearing, GIPEC committed to creating a ferry

         14  connection to Brooklyn this year, so I think it's in

         15  everyone's interest to figure out when that

         16  connection to Brooklyn is going to happen.  I'd say

         17  given all the talk on budget and the need for the

         18  Council to support the Mayor's budget proposal, we

         19  might as well expand the ferry connections we're

         20  asking for and say we should have ferry connections

         21  from all five boroughs.  You know, if we're going to

         22  have water taxi access to Governors Island or other

         23  ferry access to Governors Island, we could just as

         24  easily send kids from Parks & Recreation centers or

         25  housing authority recreation centers or Police
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          2  Athletic League centers from the Yankee Stadium

          3  ferry landing on some Summer day and take them to

          4  Governors Island, too.

          5                 Two, right now the National Park

          6  Service is re bidding the Statue of Liberty and

          7  Ellis Island ferry concession and if you look at the

          8  map which we distributed a little earlier, these two

          9  islands which attract more than 4 million visitors

         10  last year, are quite close to Governors Island in

         11  terms of physical proximity and something we've been

         12  advocating going on six years to small effect but

         13  the cause is not entirely lost, is for this re-

         14  write of the current ferry concession which now goes

         15  from Battery Park in Lower Manhattan in Manhattan

         16  and Liberty State Park in Jersey City, to the Statue

         17  of Liberty and Ellis Island, to bring in a Governors

         18  Island connection.  It could be logistically

         19  complicated due to security, due to the lack of, I

         20  think, consumer data and market data, but as the

         21  concession documents are written, it seems like a

         22  one out of 30 points are given to respondents who

         23  include potential alternative service models or

         24  other potential connections down the road, so I'm

         25  hoping your communications with the private ferry
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          2  industry, you encourage them to at least mention

          3  Governors Island in their responses, which are due

          4  back to the National Park Service in April.

          5                 Number three, Leslie Koch mentioned

          6  the design and installation of a floating barge that

          7  would be coming to Governors Island this Summer to

          8  increase the number and type of boats that can land

          9  there and I hope that the Council would encourage

         10  GIPEC to make sure that that barge is designed in

         11  such a way that all types of vessels could land

         12  there: Historic ships, front end loading boats like

         13  New York Water Taxi or New York Waterway ferries,

         14  side loading boats like Seastreak and Circle Line

         15  and the configuration of all these boats is

         16  different and it would be easy to design something

         17  that didn't work for everybody but if what we want

         18  is more activity and to maximize the options and the

         19  ways for people to get there by any means, that

         20  barge needs to be designed in such a way that it can

         21  accommodate everything, as many options as are out

         22  there.  Over the last six or seven years since we've

         23  been involved in Governors Island issues, we've

         24  helped or enabled or chartered seven different types

         25  of boats to land on the Island, so we know it's
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          2  possible just from the infrastructure that's there

          3  and now that we're getting new infrastructure

          4  coming, let's design it to make it work better.

          5                 The last point I want to mention is

          6  water use. There's a resurgence going on in and

          7  around the Harbor with a huge volume in recreational

          8  boating, recreational use of the water. What's

          9  happening, it's a great thing, from the Harlem River

         10  to Jamaica Bay to the East, to the Hudson, there's

         11  more than two dozen recreational and community based

         12  boating and rowing programs.  If you look at just

         13  some of the blue dotted lines we've drawn here, it's

         14  part of our work to sort of tie the City's vision of

         15  PlanNYC, what should the City look like in the year

         16  2030, we're trying to show what are some of the

         17  existing points of pollution in light of where some

         18  of the waterways being used for recreation and

         19  you'll see that Governors Island is right in the

         20  middle of that.  Kayaks and canoes come out of the

         21  Gowanus Canal, stop at the beach at Valentino Pier,

         22  they come out of Hudson River Park and the Downtown

         23  Boathouse and make their way to Governors Island,

         24  so, as this park is designed and as this Island is

         25  redeveloped, we want to make sure that it is done in
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          2  such a way that it doesn't just minimize it's impact

          3  on water quality, whether it's runoff from the roads

          4  or the transportation facilities or parking lots on

          5  the island but that the park itself is designed in a

          6  way that it can sort of nourish and help revitalize

          7  water quality as it exists.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you, Carter

         10  Craft, so much and all of you gentlemen.  I was just

         11  thinking, though, if this is a success, and we're

         12  all hoping it will be, and seemingly will be after

         13  it's developed, do you think the present amount of

         14  docking area, moorings whatever you call it, would

         15  be sufficient, what we have right now?

         16                 MR. PIRANI: You mean on the Island?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Right on the

         18  Island itself. There's one for the ferry to come in

         19  and one maybe floating dock for water taxis or

         20  something.

         21                 MR. PIRANI: No, I think, long term, I

         22  think the expectation would be that Governors Island

         23  could attract somewhere on the order of a million to

         24  two million to three million people a year and

         25  certainly, if the Island is going to sustain that
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          2  kind of, you know, I'm talking ten years down the

          3  road, but at that point we really need to be

          4  thinking about additional capacity.  GIPEC's plan

          5  right now is to look at additional new piers on the

          6  Brooklyn side near what's called now Yankee Pier and

          7  then there's Lima Pier. That's something, those

          8  piers could be fixed up near term, maybe in the next

          9  couple of years, to accommodate vessels along the

         10  lines of what Carter mentioned and I think Julie

         11  Nadel mentioned.  They could also be a place where

         12  you could create a new vehicle landing to

         13  accommodate vehicles from Brooklyn.  Again, I'm

         14  talking about service vehicles, delivery vehicles,

         15  buses, that type of thing, onto the island.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I mean, I realize

         17  I'm going to the next step and I can't wait for this

         18  to be started, let alone completed, but you have to

         19  think like Robert Moses sometimes to think ahead.

         20                 MR. PIRANI: One thing, and I know

         21  that Carter has raised this before as well, the

         22  Staten Island Ferry would be, has, a number of

         23  vessels that are not used during the weekend and

         24  they can land on the Island now, but only in an

         25  emergency.  If a new ferry, when they build they
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          2  build the new ferry landings, if those were designed

          3  to accommodate the Staten Island boats, and

          4  obviously a lot of operating issues were solved

          5  relative to Staten Island, I think it would be an

          6  ideal use of both the boats, the ferry terminal in

          7  Manhattan, and in St. George's to allow folks to

          8  come to the Island and it would be essential to do

          9  the kind of big events, the kind of festivals that

         10  Leslie Koch mentioned.

         11                 MR. CRAFT: I was just going to say,

         12  judging from the testimony you've heard today,

         13  there's a whole range of visions for how the

         14  waterfront and the water will be used there.  The

         15  National Park Service looks at it as a jumping off

         16  point, or hub, for transit to get to Jamaica Bay or

         17  Fort Wadsworth or Battery Park or elsewhere.  There

         18  maritime festival model that Community Board 1

         19  brought up almost imagines like a recreation, at

         20  least temporary, of like a South Street Seaport

         21  there.  If you look at the programs that are already

         22  happening, like the Downtown Boathouse or the

         23  Gowanus Dredgers, that's the small scale and

         24  individual rowing and boating clubs, so it almost

         25  seems like some sort of the Battery, Sheepshead Bay
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          2  and some of the community boating and rowing

          3  facilities, you have the whole range.

          4                 MR. GERSON: Right.  There's

          5  envisioning perhaps in the future ferries coming in

          6  from Canarsie Pier, Sheepshead Bay Pier, perhaps

          7  even New Jersey and other areas and before we

          8  develop the entire shoreline, if you will, and it

          9  would be difficult, then, to destruct what was

         10  constructed, to perhaps be fazed in as part of the

         11  plan overall.  Eventually, we may have to have a

         12  master with this plan, eventually, someone to crack

         13  a whip if it doesn't really get initiated fast.  Is

         14  there anybody that would have the power, I know

         15  there is, but who would it be, to say, "enough of

         16  this, we're going to go with this plan" because

         17  conceivably we could be here for 20 years.  If you

         18  have again, thousands of people fighting for what

         19  they want.

         20                 MR. BUTZEL: There are some unusually

         21  difficult projects that happen in New York City.

         22  Usually you see that the partners are the City and

         23  the State.  You know, there are the politics of the

         24  City and the State and you simply have to persuade

         25  the executives that this is a priority and then they
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          2  will get it done.  We found that with Hudson River

          3  Park and I think we found that with Brooklyn Bridge

          4  Park and that will be the same here. There are

          5  thoughts that maybe the City should take over

          6  Governors Island on its own or the State should take

          7  over Governors Island on its own, but, those bring

          8  with it $200 million of additional capital that one

          9  government or another has to put in, so, I really

         10  think that these things work fine if the executives

         11  are in agreement and if you get good people.  I

         12  think Leslie is an example of an executive who knows

         13  what she's doing, who has a sense that everyone

         14  should be involved and who is capable of trying to

         15  put people together.  I think that is also true of

         16  Connie Fishman at the Hudson River Park Trust.  If

         17  you have that combination, this problem will be

         18  solved.  It will take a long time.  Someone said ten

         19  years, Rob, it will be 20 years before Governors

         20  Island is finished, but it will be a remarkable

         21  place if it's done right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Wow, yes, it

         23  would not be a lack of resolve from Leslie Koch.

         24                 MR. BUTZEL: No, I don't think so, I

         25  just think money.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Or others

          3  involved.  The money, of course, plays a role in

          4  this, too.  I just change it around. There's an

          5  expression you could use, "The only thing that two

          6  New Yorkers can agree upon is what a third New

          7  Yorker should give to charity."

          8                 MR. BUTZEL: That sounds good to me if

          9  you give towards my charity.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: This is my fear,

         11  my concern.

         12                 MR. BUTZEL: You know, people tear

         13  their hair and scratch their heads and we fiddle

         14  while time goes by but we are beginning to see these

         15  projects move and I think even though it's been five

         16  plus years since the Island was transferred and

         17  you'd be hard put to say what was done, actually so

         18  much has been learned that's going to help move this

         19  along for the future that we should be happy that

         20  we're all here at this time rather than four years

         21  ago.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Right.  And the

         23  discussion is important and pertinent and again,

         24  it's incumbent upon us to do this, to find an

         25  appropriate plan without rushing into one.  But I
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          2  would just throw out there if nothing is done at a

          3  targeted date, two years from now, three years from

          4  now, that a master, whatever that is, should be

          5  thrown into this, to say okay, and they're going to

          6  make the decisions based upon a few plans that have

          7  already been credited.

          8                 MR. CRAFT: I was just going to add

          9  and maybe reinforce something that Al said.  You

         10  know, unlike probably pretty much every of the

         11  countless number of hearings that the Council has

         12  held on this topic, you know I think we're all three

         13  here before you today to say that, "I think, while

         14  we might quibble about some of the details, in broad

         15  strokes I think GIPEC is finally on a good path and

         16  it's really more a question of, frankly, the money

         17  to get to that next step in terms of getting the

         18  park underway, start to see it being constructed",

         19  and, you know, we'll be discussing the details

         20  forever, but that's really the critical message of

         21  the day.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Just for

         23  clarification, who has the power to enforce the

         24  deed?  Would it be the feds?

         25                 MR. PIRANI: It's the federal
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          2  government, specifically the National Parks or the

          3  National Park Service, the State Historic

          4  Preservation Officer also has an important role in

          5  that process but it's really the Federal government

          6  to enforce it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: It would be.

          8  Again, thank you very much, gentlemen.  Co- chairs?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I want to ask you

         10  two questions on process.  You may have answered

         11  them implicitly but I'd like to pose it explicitly.

         12  The RFP process that you've heard GIPEC outline, are

         13  you satisfied with that, should it be tweaked or

         14  adjusted in any other manner to assure the best

         15  possible results?

         16                 MR. PIRANI: This is the RFP process

         17  for the design competition you're talking about?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Correct.  For the

         19  park part leading to the jury leading to everything

         20  else.

         21                 MR. PIRANI: I think there's two

         22  important things we'd like to see communicated to

         23  the designers.  I mentioned a couple of them.  One

         24  is that, in fact, their charge should be to design

         25  at least 40 acres of public park, in addition to the
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          2  Esplanade and the landscaped elements within the

          3  Historic District. The second is that they not, you

          4  know, in effect, I think Leslie showed a diagram of

          5  where the park would be in the Southern half of the

          6  Island and I think that sort of reflects sort of the

          7  legal structure, but in terms of the design and the

          8  visitor experience, that boundary should not be

          9  readily apparent to anybody.  In fact, so the

         10  designer should be looking at, sort of, how public

         11  access and the sort of seam between the legal park

         12  and the lease opportunities is constructed.  You

         13  know, Battery Park City, I think, offers a good,

         14  obviously intensive development in Battery Park

         15  City, but, it blends into the actual park space

         16  relatively well.  There are sort of visual cues,

         17  there aren't fences preventing you from going into

         18  the private spaces until you actually get inside the

         19  buildings and I think it's that same, or until you

         20  get into the second floor of those buildings, and I

         21  think you'd want to engender that same kind of

         22  feeling on Governors Island and that should be a key

         23  instruction to the designers.

         24                 MR. CRAFT: I think you have to look

         25  at the list of either permitted or excluded uses
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          2  that are going to come out in the RFP, because if

          3  this is going to be a State project, will the

          4  eventual design of the project be only those items

          5  that were included in the RFP? Or included in the

          6  winning design?  You know, it's not like the Lower

          7  East River Waterfront Plan where there's a hearing

          8  on the draft Environmental Impact Statement, you

          9  know, in two weeks, where a scope of the EIS was

         10  disseminated to the public, hundreds if not

         11  thousands of comments were received.  This is a

         12  State driven project, is there a front end of public

         13  participation and input before that scope is

         14  finalized and the instructions are given to the

         15  designers?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, what would

         17  you recommend?

         18                 MR. CRAFT: I would hope the Committee

         19  or the Council could recommend or request that the

         20  scope or the instructions or the basis of the RFP to

         21  the designers is at least shared with the

         22  Committees, if not reviewed or have some level of

         23  input provided by the public because looking at the

         24  whole range of uses which Community Board 1 and

         25  other members of the community have brought up,
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          2  that's a lot to squeeze onto 40 acres but we

          3  certainly don't want to leave anything out of the

          4  eventual design.

          5                 MR. BUTZEL: I respectfully disagree

          6  with Carter.  I think you gotta get this going and

          7  the more you can encourage GIPEC to bring in the

          8  public views.  We've been airing public views for

          9  seven years now or eight years or ten years.

         10  Everyone knows what everyone else wants there and

         11  the like and to the degree that it can be brought in

         12  in a formal way, some way.  Don't delay this. Don't

         13  do something that slows it down.

         14                 MR. CRAFT: I'm not looking for a

         15  delay.  I just think if you look at the experience

         16  of Hudson River Park, here we go trying to put water

         17  uses and boathouses back in to a process which was

         18  designed with great benches and great light fixtures

         19  and a sprinkler system that works but left out the

         20  most exciting 300 acres of the park, which is the

         21  water.  So if you don't want slow down the process

         22  by a protracted public involvement, or risk a

         23  protracted public involvement, at least the Council

         24  Committee could look at it and provide its own

         25  input.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Guys, I'm going

          3  to have to step in.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Wait, this is

          5  good.  It's getting spirited.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know it is, but

          7  there's a 1:00 hearing and there's another panel.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you all

          9  very, very much and I assure you, we're going to be

         10  discussing the Council's role in this process and a

         11  role that will involve a role that will assuring

         12  that it will go forward without delay but in a

         13  responsive manner.

         14                 MR. BUTZEL: Get that money.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You both made

         16  great points at the end.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Our final panel

         18  for this hearing, Rick Bell of the AIA, the American

         19  Institute of Architecture, Micaela Birmingham of New

         20  Yorkers for Parks, Mark Costello of the Downtown

         21  Little League and the Downtown Soccer League and

         22  Alice LaBrie.  The Sergeant, if we could have four

         23  chairs.  We do have four chairs.  Okay.  Why don't,

         24  Rick, why don't you commence? Yes.

         25                 MR. BELL: Thank you and thank you for
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          2  the opportunity to testify today.  I'm here on

          3  behalf of the American Institute of Architects,

          4  which has 4,200 members in New York and I have a

          5  very, very short statement and would like to start,

          6  though, without the statement just to commend Rob

          7  Pirani, Al Butzel and Carter Craft not just for

          8  their testimony but for everything they've done with

          9  the Governors Island Alliance.  If you've seen the

         10  Governors Island Alliance literature, there are some

         11  thirty five organizations on its masthead and the

         12  AIA, New York Chapter, is very proud to be, at least

         13  alphabetically, the first of those.

         14                 So rather than repeat what Rob was

         15  saying, I would just like to, perhaps, augment it,

         16  reiterate, emphasize just three points.  The

         17  importance of having a feasible master plan, the

         18  draft general project plan, delineating potential

         19  partners, including perhaps one or more

         20  universities, done in real time.  Governors Island

         21  Alliance has talked about doing that, if possible,

         22  by December of this year.  I think that we're very

         23  supportive of what GIPEC is doing with the

         24  competition.  The event that we held at the AIA

         25  Center for Architecture on Wednesday, January 17
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          2  when Leslie Koch announced the five finalists

          3  represented how enthusiastic we are about GIPEC's

          4  endeavors to create the next great open space, the

          5  next great park.  But I think at the same time we

          6  have to realize that there are other uses that we

          7  will be following and a master plan, a general

          8  project plan, is certainly the vehicle by which that

          9  would be done.

         10                 Second point, a commitment for a

         11  needed public investments both on and off the Island

         12  and the three individuals that preceded me talked in

         13  detail about the numbers and the hows and the wheres

         14  and I won't repeat what they said but I think what I

         15  could reiterate is that expediency and private

         16  funding should not determine the long term character

         17  of the Island at the expense of the public

         18  amenities, that this is the next great public place,

         19  clearly.

         20                 And lastly, an expansion of the early

         21  public uses on the Island, the interim uses,

         22  planning interim uses now for Governors Island in

         23  order to build a supportive constituency for this

         24  public asset and to maintain its historic buildings

         25  and bring them to a greater public awareness.  The
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          2  Harbor School is certainly a great first step.

          3  Other interim uses that have been discussed include

          4  even theater outdoors on a platform, bringing people

          5  to the Island, making it possible for the

          6  development of a sense of why it's important that

          7  this public investment and eventually private

          8  investment augment something that's at the heart of

          9  the City.

         10                 So, the AIA New York Chapter urges

         11  the City Council to remain involved, certainly, to

         12  assist GIPEC in its development process, support

         13  greater public participation and provide through the

         14  City's budget its share of funding for a meaningful

         15  public investment and thank you again for the chance

         16  to testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         18  much.  Ms. Birmingham.

         19                 MS. BIRMINGHAM: Good afternoon.

         20  Thank you so much for this opportunity to testify

         21  and thank you to all of you for your continued

         22  support and focus on the importance of planning for

         23  the open spaces on Governors Island.  My name is

         24  Micaela Birmingham and I'm the Director of Planning

         25  at New Yorkers for Parks and we are also a member of
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          2  the Governors Island Alliance. We'd like to

          3  congratulate and thank GIPEC for selecting five

          4  world-class teams to compete for the design of the

          5  park, the open spaces and park land on the Island.

          6  We especially applaud the commitment to making the

          7  final design not just the product of one winning

          8  team but the result of a thorough public input

          9  process.

         10                 Now I know that this has already been

         11  mentioned, but I'm going to again emphasize the

         12  lessons to be learned with the recent Randall's

         13  Island controversy.  It's actually going to be voted

         14  on later this afternoon.  I think that example

         15  highlights what happens when adequate maintenance

         16  funding is not secured.  In that case, 20 private

         17  schools are going to be potentially paying the City

         18  to renovate and enhance park facilities in return

         19  for exclusive access.  This becomes necessary when

         20  there is not an adequate management plan in place.

         21  I think we can all take from that and hopefully

         22  ensure that it doesn't happen again on Governors

         23  Island because there will be, obviously, some form

         24  of private/public partnership necessary but we need

         25  to ensure that it doesn't happen in a way that
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          2  limits access to the public and as Rob has already

          3  emphasized, the designers of the park should really

          4  take careful attention to a design that really makes

          5  the spaces look and feel truly public and there

          6  should be no exclusive access to any section of

          7  parkland granted to any private entity.  It's really

          8  a point that we hope the Council can advocate for

          9  down the road.

         10                 I think everything's been said,

         11  pretty much, already.  I would like to thank you for

         12  your continued support and we look forward to

         13  working with the Council.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         16  much.  Mr. Costello.

         17                 MR. COSTELLO: Good morning and thank

         18  you for giving me the opportunity to testify.  I'm

         19  Mark Costello.  I'm President of Downtown Little

         20  League and I'm here also representing Downtown

         21  Soccer League and Manhattan Youth.  We're three

         22  youth sports providers that collectively serve

         23  pretty much every family South of Canal.  I want to

         24  thank Council Member Gerson for basically keeping us

         25  alive over the last three years.  There is no man
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          2  more important to us.

          3                 We are also, Downtown Little League,

          4  is also probably the heaviest public user of the

          5  Island, in terms of sports leagues.  With the

          6  assistance of the great staff at GIPEC, we had about

          7  2/3 of our league was out there at least once or

          8  twice. Julie Nadell has already talked about why

          9  sports leagues need Governors Island to come online

         10  because of our historic crunch for field space and

         11  the way it effects the quality of life of our

         12  families.  I just wanted to reiterate that point but

         13  really focus on a short term goal.  We would like to

         14  suggest that in all these discussions a vision in

         15  long term goals that this Committee also think about

         16  the relationship between short term goals and long

         17  term goals.  The bottlenecks keeping families off

         18  the Island now are incredibly puny.  We have been in

         19  discussions with GIPEC about this as recently as

         20  yesterday.  We could double and triple the number of

         21  kids who get on that Island if we were able to lease

         22  some private ferries to do it, because GIPEC's

         23  proprietary ferry is very limited as to when it can

         24  run.  GIPEC has serious budget issues, and they're

         25  very legitimate.  We've offered the amount of money
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          2  needed to get private ferries out there.  It's less

          3  than $10,000.  Less than $10,000 would get thousands

          4  of more children out there.  We've offered to raise

          5  the money ourselves.  If we could get kids out there

          6  now, through this dynamic partnership, that, in

          7  turn, will build political consensus, people will

          8  see the Island and it won't be hypothetical and that

          9  will allow us to do the long term things that people

         10  have talked about.  And all we want is permission to

         11  give them a check to pay for the ferries and work

         12  through some other very valid issues and we'll get

         13  the kids there.  So we'd like to focus on how the

         14  short term and long term can bolster each other.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: If GIPEC has a

         17  problem giving you permission to give them a check,

         18  we need to talk but we'll follow up.  And Ms.

         19  LaBrie, it looks like you're going to have the last

         20  word.  We look forward to hearing you.

         21                 MS. LABRIE: Thank you.  I just wanted

         22  to thank MWA, Carter Craft, but they've gone by now.

         23  Very briefly, my name is Alice LaBrie, I'm former

         24  U.S. Department of State Foreign Service. I served

         25  in Turkey, Oman and Sweden and the United States
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          2  Mission to the U.N., where I'm presently on call.

          3  I'm in District 9, the Honorable Inez Dickens and

          4  District 70, the Honorable Herman Farrell.  I thank

          5  GIPEC for all of its efforts, especially last

          6  Summer's wonderful public programmings; however, I

          7  have a concern about security and I would want, I

          8  hope that there can be a coexistence between the

          9  park and a military presence.  I have been in touch

         10  with former State Senator Michael Balboni, who, as

         11  we all know now, is our State Deputy Secretary of

         12  Public Safety, having heard him speak about public

         13  safety.  I asked him at that time what were the

         14  plans for Governors Island and he mentioned maybe it

         15  could be used for Triad, etc.  So I would like that

         16  component considered and I will continue to be in

         17  touch with his office.

         18                 I also raise the issue at public for

         19  waterfront about remembering 9/11 that there always

         20  be consideration for evacuation plans in case there

         21  is a need to evacuate.  So, I thank you all and

         22  thank you for this opportunity to testify.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I just, I was

         24  curious, I didn't quite understand, you say you were

         25  concerned about the military presence on Governors
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          2  Island?

          3                 MS. LABRIE: I would like one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry.

          5                 MS. LABRIE: I would like a military

          6  presence.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Oh, oh.  Okay.

          8  Thank you.  I'd agree with you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  I

         10  think in all our talking, that's a good point and I

         11  was sitting here thinking, "Oh, I didn't think of

         12  that.  So, thank you."

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you all.

         14  Just a brief follow-up.  Mr. Costello.  $10,000?

         15  What will that buy in terms of ferry service?

         16                 MR. COSTELLO: I don't want to

         17  minimize the legitimate issues and complexities that

         18  are involved and the Governors Island folks are

         19  great, I want to make that very clear. But $2,500

         20   --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And I agree with

         22  that.

         23                 MR. COSTELLO: $2,500 rents a ferry

         24  rents a ferry for a Saturday.  $2,500 buys a league

         25  access for an entire Saturday. Three Saturdays in
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          2  May, $7,500 for ferry access.  There are other

          3  expenses associated with it but that buys you a

          4  private ferry for a Saturday, and we have the kids,

          5  get them across seven minutes worth of water, and we

          6  can begin to build a political consensus among

          7  ordinary households, "Hey, Governors Island is

          8  there, we have to do something great with it."

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Let me just ask

         10  you if we could overcome the logistical obstacles

         11  and give you the access, how many teams, how many

         12  games is your league prepared to play on the Island.

         13                 MR. COSTELLO: Right now, we have

         14  Saturdays in June and we have a rough plan, I

         15  emailed it this morning, to get all 700 kids, about

         16  1,500 kids and adults on the Island to play, every

         17  team to play at least once.  We could double that

         18  just with Saturdays. If you wanted to throw Sundays

         19  in, you telescope it out.  The kids are there, the

         20  infrastructure's there, it's just a question of

         21  getting across the water and being creative.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So, you could

         23  utilize both Saturday and Sunday.

         24                 MR. COSTELLO: Yes, sir.  And we're

         25  willing to raise the money to do it.  Because it's

                                                            128

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT, WATERFRONTS AND PARKS

          2  that important to Downtown Manhattan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well,  --

          4                 MS. LABRIE: I'm sorry, I would like

          5  to respectfully request, my State Department days,

          6  that perhaps consideration might be given to being

          7  in touch with our Deputy Secretary of Public State

          8  Mr. Balboni for his views.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Last question,

         10  and to all of you, but I think Ms. Birmingham and

         11  Mr. Bell, you addressed the issues of process.

         12  Beyond getting the money, are there any ways you

         13  would suggest that the City Council involve itself

         14  going forward in the process as pertains to the

         15  Island, beyond.

         16                 MS. BIRMINGHAM: One thought is the

         17  maintenance issue that we've touched on is relevant

         18  to parks across the City, and if we're talking about

         19  a new arrangement where development can support park

         20  maintenance on an ongoing basis, that is something

         21  that could be applicable Citywide and I hope that we

         22  could start thinking about that as a way to take

         23  care of parks across the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Mr. Bell?

         25                 MR. BELL: Well, two points,
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          2  reiterating what Rob Pirani started with.  The

          3  importance of 40 acres, not 20 acres of open space.

          4  To have, perhaps, additional hearings that focus on

          5  how the results of this wonderful design competition

          6  are going to unfold.  Leslie Koch made it clear,

          7  GIPEC's made it clear they will be picking sometime

          8  later this year, a team, not a scheme.  We heard

          9  that before from the Lower Manhattan Development

         10  Corporation and sometimes one is at risk of getting

         11  too ossified into the details of a plan.  I think

         12  reinforcing GIPEC's desire for public input using

         13  the Council hearing testimony process to then focus

         14  in on what are the aspects of a winning team's ideas

         15  would be very, very interesting, I think, in this

         16  forum to augment the public input.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And you've been

         18  involved, I know, in many jury competitions for

         19  design issues.  Are you satisfied with the way the

         20  jury process is set up for Governors Island as for

         21  the park process?

         22                 MR. BELL: It's just getting started.

         23  I think the delineation of what the teams will be

         24  looking at is superb, the idea of starting with

         25  public open space and I'm sure New Yorkers for Parks
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          2  has said something very similar at other times as

          3  well. It makes a lot of sense.  The jurors have not

          4  yet been announced. Usually a competition is

          5  determined by its jury in large part.  I'm looking

          6  forward to knowing who they are.  In fairness, I am

          7  on the Advisory Council, so, I've been advising to

          8  try to, as GIPEC is intending to make it as public

          9  and open a process as possible.  We are talking, for

         10  instance, about an exhibition of the five schemes

         11  that are proposed and public input, even before

         12  they're picked, on the parameters by which the

         13  scheme can emerge  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So the selection

         15  of jurors is an important step?  The Council might

         16  want to  --

         17                 MR. BELL: Selection of jurors is

         18  important, yes. And, obviously, much more important

         19  are the parameters by which all five teams are

         20  working.  So that when a team is selected from

         21  amongst five superb teams, what then happens next.

         22  We saw it with Liebskind proposal for the World

         23  Trade Center site.  Sometimes people grasp the most

         24  visually exciting idea in a competition winning

         25  scheme and sometimes the ideas of the embracing of
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          2  the heart of a scheme get lost in the attention

          3  focus by the media, you know, on the dramatic image.

          4    I think where you all can do New Yorkers a

          5  service, not just GIPEC, is by talking about the

          6  ideas, and doing that as publicly as possible.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well thank you

          8  very much.  Thank you all very much.  I think I want

          9  to thank my colleagues.  We should do this more

         10  often.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And for Helen

         12  Foster coming down from the Bronx on this very, very

         13  rough day.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Absolutely,

         15  absolutely.  You know Helen is the courageous sort.

         16  And Michael, you, too.  And I guess this hearing is

         17  adjourned with a lot of work to come.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:51 p.m.)
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